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Mission Statement =B

Perennial International Limited is dedicated to maintain the {EFSBAERATHNIRMEELER « BREELE
high quality of its products, manufacturing processes and service  EEiB12 - A REFETUR ARG @ BhEdEE
to customers and to forge a worldwide reputation as a business 73k @ EEBEZRE  ZTEIIR -

demanding excellence in all of its operations.

Corporate Profile SEEN

The Perennial Group, founded in 1989, manufactures and trades fE#PEER— L NANEKT - EFFRLE RS IEED
quality wire harnesses, power cords, power cord sets, cables and  H#35R « BIEL - BREAS - BERIBRIE S o
solid wire and plastic resins. The Group’s primary markets are  ARNEBEZEZRIMNETIEZEFZMN ~ BUN ~ BN ~ R E
America, Europe, Australia, Mainland China, Japan and Southeast APt - AANEFD  BEHS AZ LM ERERE
Asia where it sells to prominent multi-national producers of KB FERAER °

electrical and electronic products.

Headquartered in Hong Kong, as at 31st December 2023, ZAEBAIPZNES R-_E_=F+_-_A=+—
the Group employed 730 full time staff worldwide involved in B 2 RER7302THET - BETIE - 58
management, sales and marketing, shipping, procurement, &mi@ﬁr ﬂﬁk R - SR E ‘I' TERE
financial and accounting, engineering, production and = EZT kg xl%ﬁﬁl%

manufacturmg The Group considers its employees to be its mo;m Téj + BIET =812

integrity.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”
or “Management”) of Perennial International Limited (the
“Company”), | am pleased to announce the audited consolidated
financial results of the Company, together with its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) for the year ended 31st December 2023.

The Group's revenue was HK$303,527,000 (2022:
HK$324,524,000). Profit for the year was HK$15,746,000
compared to HK$18,510,000 for 2022. Earnings per share was
HK$0.079 (2022: HK$0.093).

Final Dividend

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31st December 2023. The Group’s total dividend
for the year ended 31st December 2022 amounts to HK$0.03 per
share.

Closure of Register of Members

The forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company will be
held on Tuesday, 21st May 2024 (“2024 AGM").

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Thursday, 16th May 2024 to Tuesday, 21st May 2024, both
days inclusive and during which period no share transfer will be
effected, for the purpose of ascertaining shareholders’ eligibility to
attend and vote at the 2024 AGM. In order to be eligible to attend
and vote at the 2024 AGM, all transfer documents accompanied by
the relevant share certificates must be lodged for registration with
the Company’s branch share registrar, Union Registrars Limited
at Suites 3301-04, 33/F, Two Chinachem Exchange Square, 338
King's Road, North Point, Hong Kong not later than 4:00 p.m. on
Tuesday, 14th May 2024.

Business Review

Revenue

The Group's revenue decreased by 6.5% to HK$303.5 million
in this financial year 2023. The reduction in revenue was mainly
due to decreased orders in view of 2023 being the first full year
recovery of economic activities after the COVID-19 pandemic as
businesses continued to face multitude of challenges as global
economic landscape continued to remain fragile and volatile.
Throughout the year, regional geopolitical conflicts intensified as
tensions continued to cast shadow over international trade and
relations, with unresolved conflicts affecting recovery in global
trades. In the past year, global inflation reached its peak in many
countries, causing acute increase in interest rates to remain
high at major economies during year under review. Continued
uncertainties caused by the unceasing Russian-Ukrainian war, the
ongoing worsening Sino-US trade contests, further exacerbated by
the Israel-Gaza confrontation in the last quarter of 2023.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)
FREHRE(E)

Business Review (Continued)

Revenue (Continued)

This confluence of economic obstacles has hindered an overall
global business and economic growth. In the face of these
challenges, the Group operated in an environment fraught with
uncertainties but at the same time, managed to demonstrate
resilience and adaptability despite the adversities. Sales of power
cords accounted for 55% (2022: 59%), wire harness recorded 42%
(2022: 33%) while cables, wires and plastic resins accounted for
remaining 3% (2022: 8%) of the Group's revenue.

Despite fewer orders for our PRC factory due to weakness in
certain customers’ traditional target export markets and production
location preference imposed by the North American markets
during the year under review, the Group shifted additional labour-
intensive activities to our wholly owned Vietnam factory. The
factory in Quang Ngai, Vietnam, which accounted for 59% of the
Group's revenue, was operating and functioning as planned with
additional newly installed machinery supporting and fulfilling the
enlarged orders allocated during the year under review.

The Sino-US trade disputes continued to pose significant
challenges to fill production capacities of the Group's PRC
factories. The quest to move further production away from the PRC
for North America destined goods led to lesser utilisation of the
Group's PRC production facilities which accounted for 41% (2022:
59%) of Group’s revenue. This resulted in under-utilisation of the
Group's property, plant and equipment in the PRC during the year
under review, as Management resolved to convert the Group's
Heyuan factory to investment property and leased to external third
party for alternate usage which generated additional rental income
for the Group.

By geographical market segments, revenue from the America
segment increased by 13% to approximately HK$212.3 million
from approximately HK$188.5 million for the same period of last
year, accounting for 70% (2022: 58%) of the Group's total revenue,
partly due to the strong demand for replacement of appliances
and upgrade to energy efficient commercial refrigeration solutions.
Aggregated revenue from the deliveries in the PRC and Hong Kong
segments decreased by 35% to approximately HK$63.7 million
from approximately HK$97.9 million for the same period of last
year, accounting for 21% (2022: 30%) of the Group's total revenue.
Revenue from the Japan segment, likely due to the weaker
Japanese Yen, also recorded a decrease by 31% to approximately
HK$24.4 million from approximately HK$35.6 million for the same
period of last year, accounting for 8% (2022: 11%) of the Group's
total revenue.
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Future Prospect

Perseverance was once again demonstrated as the Group adeptly
navigated the cyclical nature of business environment, challenges
and adversity in 2023. Throughout the year, the persistent global
macroeconomic challenges have proven tenacious, with the
combination of mounting interest rates, inflationary pressure and
the escalating geopolitical tensions shaping the global economic
landscape, rendering the business environment both volatile
and challenging. In addition to these challenges, trade policies
uncertainties, trade protectionism and tariff disputes between
major economies have further complicated the international
business environment for companies with production facilities
in the PRC. Against this backdrop, with the view of further
deterioration of the Group's properties values in the PRC and
Hong Kong, the Directors adopted a more conservative approach
in reducing debt and held back on dividend payment to conserve
cash and positioning itself strategically to remain competitive and
relevant.

As the Group approaches the year 2024, there is an expectation
that the delicate nature of these macroeconomic factors will
persist, the unpredictable movement of the US Dollar and
uncertain outcome of the November presidential election,
indicating a sustained vulnerability and fragility in the American
economy, being the Group's major market. However, as
challenging as it can be and barring any unforeseen circumstances,
the Group endeavours to achieve yet another year of stable
business growth with a steadfast focus on meeting our customers’
needs.

Although our business is not immune to the effects of inflation and
high interest rates faced by most economies, we are confident
that our strategies implemented complimented with our enlarged
production capacities in South East Asia and continuous launch
of newly developed wire harness products will enable the Group
to continue to maintain our profitability impetus amid a rapidly
changing business environment.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)
FREHRE(E)
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)
FREHRE(E)

Future Prospect (Continued)

The Group's continuing success in meeting demand by
working closely with our clients underpin our expectation of
further improvement in 2024. The strong product development
capabilities of our PRC factory along with proven sourcing and
procurement competence has placed the Group in a readiness
position to respond to potential market disruption. Ongoing
negative preferential sentiment makes situation rather difficult, but
Management will continue to review utilisation status of our PRC
facilities to ensure better employment of resources going forward.

The plans to expand business is contingent upon the success
of measures taken to alleviate and mitigate side effects of the
persisting Sino-US trade rivalry, because the Group’'s few major
American customers account for a large proportion. Similar to
2023, there are huge uncertainties on how the situation will
unfold as management will need to maintain operations of both
our valuable PRC and competitive Vietnam factories and allocate
production in line with ongoing demand by our customers, whom
are constantly assessing their sourcing locations and strategies.

To conclude, the Group maintains a keen awareness of the
prevailing economic fragility and is committed to addressing it
with a proactive and strategic approach which centre on high
valuable segments. In addition to allocating resources to areas
with significant potential, the Group will continue to place a strong
emphasis on continuous innovation and improvement in its product
design and operational processes.

We are confident as the Group is well placed to overcome ongoing
and new challenges. We believe having weathered the effects
of economic uncertainties and wars in 2023, the Group moved
into 2024 with cautious optimism, prepared to both capture new
opportunities arising from anticipated gradual market recovery and
navigate through continuing disruptions.

Corporate Governance

The Group is committed to safeguarding shareholders’ rights and
enhancing corporate governance standard. As a result, the Group
has established the Compliance Committee, Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee to adhere to
the best practice.
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Social Responsibility

The Group's factories are regularly subject to factory audit by
multinational enterprises. The factory audit served as a catalyst to
enhance the Group's standard on corporate social responsibility.

Moreover, the Group holds a strong belief in corporate social
responsibility. So the Group continues to participate in and support
community activities in Hong Kong, the PRC and Vietnam.

With regards to the Group's ESG performance, please refer to
the Group’s ESG report which will be available on the Company’s
website at http://perennial.todayir.com and the Stock Exchange's
website before 30th April 2024.

Vote of Thanks

As we move forward into 2024, we wish to thank all our
stakeholders — most notably the clients, shareholders, suppliers
and employees — for their resilience, dedication and enthusiasm
during these turbulent times. It is with their continued support that
the Group will succeed in growing its strength and delivering even
greater value in the new financial year and for many more years to
come.

By Order of the Board
Koo Di An, Louise
Chairman

Hong Kong, 20th March 2024
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE DT

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

Facing the high instability of the macro situation, we are grateful
in delivering a reasonable financial performance. During the year
under review, although sales have decreased, the Group managed
to record an increase in gross profit margin from 24.5% in 2022 to
28.5% in 2023 as the Group adopted series of proactive measures
in respond to evolving challenges as well as benefiting from the
strength of the US Dollar, being the main revenue currency of
the Group during the year under review. The ongoing measures
to maintain operational efficiency resulted in the Group enjoying
lower overall costs of goods sold such as direct labour, utilities,
depreciation and post pandemic logistic expenses while facing
pressures in supply chain and fluctuating material costs during
the year. Corresponding to the decline in revenue, the cost
of sales decreased by approximately 11.4% or approximately
HK$28,038,000 from approximately HK$245,139,000 for the year
ended 31st December 2022 to approximately HK$217,101,000 for
the year ended 31st December 2023.

Other Income and Operating Expenses

The Group’s other income mainly comprised of rental income,
recharged freight cost, interest income and scrap sales. During
the year, the amount was mainly contributed by rental income
of approximately HKD$2,554,000 and recharged freight cost
of approximately HK$4,096,000 as compared to approximately
HK$1,545,000 and approximately HK$3,123,000 recorded
respectively in 2022.

Additionally, there was a net loss of approximately HK$2,819,000
on derivative financial instruments during the year which was
offset partially by a net gain on foreign exchange of approximately
HK$2,362,000 recorded under the Group's other operating
expenses, net, resulting effectively in a net foreign exchange loss
of approximately HK$457,000 during the year.

Revaluation loss of investment properties and impairment
loss of buildings amounted to approximately HK$5,634,000
(2022: HK$407,000) and approximately HK$5,192,000 (2022:
HK$5,708,000) respectively for the year ended 31st December
2023. The losses were primarily attributable to the drop in their
valuations under the influence of the PRC and Hong Kong real
estate market environment.

Profit for the year

The Group recorded a net profit margin of 5.2% in 2023 compared
to0 5.7% in 2022. The slight drop in net profit margin were mainly
due to higher administrative costs during the year as well as
increase in provision for slow-moving inventories and other
operating expenses for the year ended 31st December 2023
despite lower finance costs.
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Profit for the year (Continued)

The Group concluded the year with a net profit of approximately
HK$15,746,000 in 2023, representing a decrease of 14.9% as
opposed to a net profit of approximately HK$18,510,000 achieved
in 2022. Accordingly, the Group's EBITDA (earnings before
interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation) for 2023 stood at
approximately HK$28,278,000 as compared to approximately
HK$34,585,000 recorded in 2022, representing a moderate
decrease. Basic earnings per share decreased from 9.3 HK cents in
2022 to 7.9 HK cents in 2023.

Liquidity, financial resources and capital

structure

During the COVID-19 pandemic years which affected material
costs, supply chain and deliveries to customers, Management had
to order and purchased materials, produced finished goods and
shipped in advance resulted higher inventory level of approximately
HK$146,106,000 as at 31st December 2022. After a strong effort
from Management to pursue destocking for the year under review,
inventory was lowered by approximately HK$35,837,000 or 24.5%
as at 31st December 2023 to approximately HK$110,269,000 as
compared to the year before. The reduction in inventory resulted
in Group’s inventory turnover days decreased from 227 days as at
31st December 2022 to 216 days as at 31st December 2023.

Due to the seasonal factors, despite a decrease in revenue, trade
and bills receivables recorded an increase from approximately
HK$52,159,000 as at 31st December 2022 to approximately
HK$69,054,000 as at 31st December 2023. During the year under
review, precautionary steps taken by Management included
constant review and monitoring of receivables from a few major
customers and regular assessment of their publicised financial
status.

With that, the Group's cash and cash equivalents as of
31st December 2023 increased by 85.3% to approximately
HK$39,008,000 (2022: HK$21,048,000). The Group has no
bank borrowings as at 31st December 2023 compared to bank
borrowings of approximately HK$22,775,000 as at 31st December
2022. While the financial impacts for the strategies in place not
only resulted in substantial decrease in bank borrowings in 2023,
the favourable financial performance resulting in the Group's
zero gearing level as at 31st December 2023 compared to 5.6%
as at 31st December 2022. The Group had great improvement
in cash flow status in operating activities mainly from decrease
in inventories which generated operating cash inflow of
approximately HK$58,535,000 during the year. Such fund was
mainly used for repayment of borrowings in view of the significant
increase in effective interest rate, supporting the increase in
receivables and additional investment in production facilities for the
Vietnam factory.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
ERER® I (E)

Capital Expenditure

During the year, capital expenditure approximates to HK$4,265,000
(2022: HK$1,673,000).

Pledge of Assets

As at 31st December 2023, the Group’s trade and loan finance
facilities amounted to approximately HK$56,300,000, which were
secured by limited guarantees from the Company and certain
subsidiaries (2022: secured by limited guarantees from the
Company and certain subsidiaries and legal charges over certain
land and buildings and investment properties).

Segment Information

During the year under review, America, the PRC and Hong Kong
continued to be the Group's major markets, accounting for
approximately 70%, 12% and 9% (2022: 58%, 17% and 13%)
of the Group's total sales respectively. The remaining 9% (2022:
12%) of sales were generated from customers located in Japan,
Vietnam and other countries.

Employees’ Remuneration Policy

As at 31st December 2023, the Group employed 730 (2022:
790) full time management, administrative and production staff
worldwide. The proportion of male to female is 1:1.8 (2022: 1:2.2).
The Group follows market practice on remuneration packages.
Employee’s remuneration is reviewed and determined by senior
management annually depending on the employee’s performance,
experience and industry practice. The total amount of employee’s
remuneration was set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial
information in this report. The Group invests in its human capital. In
addition to on-job training, the Group adopts policies of continuous
professional training programs.

Foreign Exchange Exposure

All foreseeable foreign exchange risks of the Group are
appropriately managed and hedged, if necessary.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31st December 2023 and 2022, the Group did not have any
material contingent liability.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company is firmly committed to statutory and regulatory
corporate governance standards with emphasis on transparency,
independence, accountability, responsibility and fairness.

The Corporate Governance Code

The Directors confirm that the Company has fully complied with
the code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the
“Code") attached to the Listing Rules as Appendix C1, and adopted
recommended best practices set out in the Code whenever
appropriate. During the year, Ms. Koo Di An, Louise, Chairman,
was unable to hold a meeting with the Independent Non-Executive
Directors without the presence of the Executive Directors due to
other prior business engagements.

The Board

The Board's primary role is to protect and enhance long-term
shareholder value. It sets the overall strategy for the Group and
supervises executive management to whom the responsibility of
managing the day-to-day operation of the Group is delegated. In
the course of discharging its duties, the Board acts in integrity, due
diligence and care, and in the best interests of the Company and its
shareholders.

The Board oversees the Company in a responsible and effective
manner. It has adopted formal terms of reference which details
its functions and responsibilities. Its main responsibilities include,
but not limited to, ensuring competent management, approving
objectives, strategies and business plans, ensuring prudent
conduct of operations within laws and approved policies, ensuring
and monitoring integrity in the Company’s conduct of affairs. Day-
to-day management of the Group is delegated to the Executive
Directors or the officer in charge of each division who are given
clear directions as to his/her powers and are required to report back
to the Board. Functions reserved to the Board and delegated to the
management are reviewed periodically. The Directors, as members
of the Board, jointly share responsibility for the proper direction
of the Company. The Company has formal service contract with
each Director setting out the key terms and conditions of his/her
appointment.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
rEERRE(E)

The Board (Continued)

The Board currently consists of nine (9) members whose details
are set out on pages 31 to 33 of this report. It meets quarterly
and holds specific meetings as and when they are deemed
necessary. The Board held four (4) meetings during the year ended
31st December 2023. Notices of Board meetings were given to
the Directors at least 14 days prior to the date of the meetings
with the agenda and any accompanying Board papers sent at
least three days before the date of the meetings. All Directors
are given the opportunity to include matters for discussion in the
agenda. Minutes of the Board meetings and committee meetings,
recording in sufficient detail the matters considered and decisions
reached, are kept by the Company Secretary and sent to the
Directors or the committee members (as appropriate) for their
comment and records within reasonable time after the meeting is
held. They are also available for inspection by the Directors at any
reasonable time on reasonable notice by any Director. A record of
the Directors’ attendance at Board meetings is set out on page 26
of this report.

The Group provides extensive background information about its
history, mission and businesses to the Directors. The Directors are
also provided with the opportunity to visit the Group's operational
facilities and meet with the management to gain a better
understanding of its business operations.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. The Company updates Directors on the latest
developments regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirements from time to time, to ensure compliance
and enhance their awareness of good corporate governance
practices.

During the year, all Directors, namely, Messrs Mon Chung Hung,
Chan Chun Yiu, Mon Wai Ki, Vicky, Mon Tiffany, Mon Derek, Koo
Di An, Louise, Lau Chun Kay, Lee Chung Nai, Jones and Chung
Kit Ying, received regular briefings and updates on the Group's
business, operations, risk management and corporate governance
matters. Materials on new or changes to salient laws and
regulations applicable to the Group were provided to the Directors.
They also attended regulatory update sessions and seminars on
relevant topics. All Directors are requested to provide the Company
with their respective training record pursuant to the Code and
confirmed that they have complied with C.1.4 of the Code.

The Board has separate and independent access to the senior
management and the Company Secretary at all times. The Board
and each Board Committee also has access to independent
professional advice where appropriate.
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The Board (Continued)

The Company has arranged for appropriate liability insurance
for the Directors and the senior management of the Group for
indemnifying their liabilities arising out of corporate activities. The
insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis.

In order to reinforce independence, accountability and area of
responsibility, the role of the Chairman is separate from that of
the Chief Executive Officer. Ms. Koo Di An, Louise is the chairman
of the Company and Mr. Mon Chung Hung is the chief executive
officer of the Company. Their respective responsibilities are clearly
established and set out in writing. The Chairman manages the
Board and is responsible for ensuring that adequate information is
provided to the Directors in a timely manner and all Directors are
properly briefed on issues arising at Board meetings, while the
Chief Executive Officer is responsible for implementing strategies,
policies, and for conducting the Group's businesses.

Pursuant to the Bye-laws of the Company, one-third of the
Directors must retire at each annual general meeting, and may
offer themselves for re-election. Notwithstanding that the non-
executive Directors are appointed for a specific term of one to
three years, they are also subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years as other Directors do. To enhance
accountability, any further re-appointment of an independent
non-executive Director, who has served the Board for more than
nine years, is subject to a separate resolution to be passed by
the shareholders. In addition, Directors who are appointed to fill
a casual vacancy should be subject to election by shareholders
at the first general meeting after appointment according to the
Company's Bye-laws.

Pursuant to the requirement of the Listing Rules, the Company
confirms receipt of a written confirmation from each of the
independent non-executive Directors for confirmation of his
independence to the Company. The Company considers all its
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
rEERRE(E)

Responsibilities of the Directors for the

Consolidated Financial Statements

The Board should present a balanced, clear and comprehensible
assessment of the Company’s and the Group’s performance,
position and prospects. The Directors should prepare the
consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis, with
supporting assumptions or qualifications as necessary. The Board's
responsibility to present a balanced, clear and understandable
assessment extends to annual and interim reports, other price-
sensitive announcements and other financial disclosures required
under the Listing Rules, and reports to regulators as well as
to information required to be disclosed pursuant to statutory
requirements.

Board Committees

The Board has established four (4) committees, each of them
having specific terms of reference, to consider matters relating to
specialised areas and to advise the Board or, where appropriate,
to decide on behalf of the Board on such matters. Details of these
committees and their principal terms of reference are as follows:

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established on 1st April 2003. Its current
members include three (3) independent non-executive Directors
and one (1) non-executive Director, who are:

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. LAU Chun Kay (Chairman)

Mr. LEE Chung Nai, Jones

Ms. CHUNG Kit Ying

Non-Executive Director
Ms. KOO Di An, Louise

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available on the
Company’s website at http://perennial.todayir.com and the Stock
Exchange's website.
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Board Committees (Continued)

Audit Committee (Continued)

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for reviewing the
Group's financial and accounting policies and practices, making
recommendation to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment
and removal of the external auditor and any question of resignation
or dismissal, their audit fees, matters relating to the independence
of the external auditor; meeting with the external auditor to discuss
the nature and scope of the audit, and matters of concern when
requested to do so by the external auditor; reviewing the interim
financial report and annual consolidated financial statements
before they are submitted to the Board; discussing problems and
reservations arising from the interim review and final audit, and
any other matters the external auditor may wish to discuss, and
reviewing the external auditor’'s letter to the management and
the management’s response; considering any major investigation
findings on internal control and risk management systems
matters as delegated by the Board or on its own initiative and
the management’s response to these findings and reviewing
arrangements which employees may use, in confidence, to raise
concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting,
internal control, risk management systems or other matters.

The Audit Committee meets at least twice a year with the external
auditor. The Audit Committee held three (3) meetings during the
year ended 31st December 2023. An attendance record of its
members at the Audit Committee meetings is set out on page 26
of this report. During the year, the Audit Committee had a meeting
with PricewaterhouseCoopers, the former auditor, to confirm their
reason to resign. Upon appointment of Mazars CPA Limited as the
new auditor of the Company, the Audit Committee also reviewed
the calibre, audit proposals, independence, their reputation in the
market, resources and capability of the new auditor and other
professional audit firms.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the interim financial report for
the six months ended 30th June 2023 and the audited financial
results of the Group for the year ended 31st December 2023 and
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group. The
Audit Committee also reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness
of the Company's internal control and risk management systems
and made recommendations to the Board. The Board has engaged
an outsourced consultant to perform internal control review
services for the Group. The Audit Committee also reviewed and
gave opinions on appointing new auditor and on the change in
accounting policy during the year.

The Audit Committee has full and direct access to the outsourced
internal audit consultant, reviews the reports on all audits
performed and monitors the audit performance. The Audit
Committee also reviews the adequacy of the scope, functions,
competency and resources of the outsourced internal audit
functions.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
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Board Committees (Continued)

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established on 21st November
2005. Its current members include three (3) independent non-
executive Directors and one (1) non-executive Director, who are:

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. LAU Chun Kay (Chairman)

Mr. LEE Chung Nai, Jones

Ms. CHUNG Kit Ying

Non-Executive Director
Ms. KOO Di An, Louise

The Remuneration Committee is mainly responsible for
reviewing the Group’s remuneration policies, determining the
specific remuneration packages for executive Directors and
senior management, including terms of salary, discretionary
bonus scheme, benefits in kind, pension rights, compensation
payments and other long-term incentive schemes, and making
recommendations to the Board on remuneration of the non-
executive Directors and senior management. The terms of
reference of the Remuneration Committee setting out its authority
and responsibilities are available on the Company’s website at
http://perennial.todayir.com and the Stock Exchange's website.

The Remuneration Committee met once (1) in the year of
2023. During the meeting, the committee members discussed
the policy for the remuneration of the executive Directors and
senior management, assessed the performance of the executive
Directors and approved the remuneration packages of the
executive Directors. An attendance record of its members at the
Remuneration Committee meeting is set out on page 26 of this
report.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established on 21st November
2005. Its current members include three (3) independent non-
executive Directors and one (1) non-executive Director, who are:

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. LAU Chun Kay (Chairman)

Mr. LEE Chung Nai, Jones

Ms. CHUNG Kit Ying

Non-Executive Director
Ms. KOO Di An, Louise
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Board Committees (Continued)

Nomination Committee (Continued)

The Board adopts a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) which sets out its approach to achieve and maintain
its diversity through consideration of a number of measurable
objectives including skills, professional experience, cultural and
educational background, gender, age, as well as other attributes
and strengths that are required for the Company’s business from
time to time. Board appointments are made on a merit basis and
candidates are considered against objective selection criteria, with
due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

The Nomination Committee is mainly responsible for reviewing
the structure, size, composition and diversity (including,
without limitation, gender, age, cultural and educational
backgrounds, skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board
on a regular basis, reviewing the candidates’ qualification and
competence and the Board Diversity Policy, assessing the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors and
making recommendations to the Board on appointment and re-
appointment of Directors and the requirement on board diversity,
so as to ensure that all nominations are fair and transparent. Having
taken into account the above objective criteria, the Nomination
Committee was of the view that the Company has a diverse Board.
The revised terms of reference of the Nomination Committee
setting out its authority and responsibilities are available on the
Company’s website at http://perennial.todayir.com and the Stock
Exchange's website.

The Nomination Committee met once (1) in the year of 2023.
During the meeting, the committee members discussed the
procedures and criteria which should be adopted by them in
nominating candidates for directorship and agreed that such
criteria should include the candidates’ professional background,
their financial and commercial experience and their past track
record with other listed companies (if any). Candidates who satisfy
the relevant criteria are then short-listed by the chairman of the
Nomination Committee before their nominations are proposed
to the Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee
subsequently meets to select the final candidates and submit its
recommendation to the Board for its final approval. An attendance
record of its members at the Nomination Committee meeting is set
out on page 26 of this report.

The Company currently has four female Directors and the Board
will endeavour to at least maintain female representation on the
Board and take opportunities to increase the proportion of female
members over time as and when suitable candidates are identified.
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Board Committees (Continued)

Compliance Committee

The Compliance Committee was established on 25th November
2005. Its current members include five (5) executive Directors, one
(1) non-executive Director and three (3) independent non-executive
Directors, who are:

Executive Directors

Mr. MON Chung Hung

Mr. CHAN Chun Yiu (appointed on 22nd March 2023)
Ms. MON Wai Ki, Vicky

Ms. MON Tiffany

Mr. MON Derek (appointed on 23rd May 2023)

Non-Executive Director
Ms. KOO Di An, Louise (Chairman)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. LAU Chun Kay

Mr. LEE Chung Nai, Jones

Ms. CHUNG Kit Ying

The Compliance Committee is mainly responsible for (i) reviewing
corporate communication issued by the Company so as to
ensure compliance in every respect with the listing requirements
contained in the Listing Rules; and (ii) reviewing transactions
entered into by the Company so as to ensure compliance with
the relevant laws and regulations applicable to the Company
whether of Hong Kong or elsewhere. To enhance corporate
governance, the Compliance Committee was also delegated with
the responsibilities of (i) developing and reviewing the Company's
policies and practices on corporate governance and making
recommendations to the Board; (i) reviewing and monitoring the
training and continuous professional development of Directors and
senior management; (iii) developing, reviewing and monitoring the
code of conduct applicable to employees and Directors; and (iv)
reviewing the Company’s compliance with the Code and disclosure
in the corporate governance report. Where necessary, the
Compliance Committee would seek professional advice in respect
of the requirements of the Listing Rules and other applicable
laws and regulations so as to improve the existing compliance
procedures of the Company.

The Compliance Committee held one (1) meeting during the year
ended 31st December 2023. During the meeting, the committee
members discussed the recent amendments to the Listing Rules
relating to corporate governance and resolved that more resources
should be allocated for meeting the increasingly stringent
requirements of the regulatory authorities. It was also suggested
all future amendments to the Listing Rules should be circulated to
members of the senior management so that they all understand
and can help the Company to comply with its obligations under the
Listing Rules and seminars on Listing Rules updates and corporate
governance practices should be arranged for members of the
senior management and other interested Directors. An attendance
record of its members at the Compliance Committee meeting is
set out on page 26 of this report.
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Internal Control

The Board is responsible for internal control of the Group and
for reviewing its effectiveness. Procedures have been designed
for safeguarding assets against unauthorised use or disposition,
ensuring the maintenance of proper accounting records for the
provision of reliable financial information for internal use or for
publication, and ensuring compliance with applicable laws, rules
and regulations. The procedures provide reasonable but not
absolute assurance against material errors, losses or fraud.

The Board has engaged an outsourced internal audit consultant to
perform independent internal control review services. Thereafter,
the outsourced consultant has assisted the Group to perform a
review of the effectiveness of internal control system for certain
selected processes. The assessment results and proposed
improvement recommendations were reported to the Audit
Committee.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, has reviewed annually
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control system covering
all material controls, including financial, operational and compliance
controls and risk management functions and, in particular, consider
the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting and
financial reporting function for the year ended 31st December
2023. Based on the findings of the outsourced internal audit
consultant and the comments of the Audit Committee, the Board
considers that the Group's internal control system is effective
and adequate. Areas for improvement identified and appropriate
measures taken so as to provide assurance that key business and
operational risks are identified and managed.

The key procedures that the Board has established to provide
effective internal control are as follows:

(@) a comprehensive monthly management reporting system
is in place providing financial and operational performance
indicators to the management, and the relevant financial
information for reporting and disclosure purpose;

(b)  management structure with defined roles, responsibilities
and reporting lines are established. Delegated authorities are
documented and communicated; and

(c) system and procedures are in place to identify, measure,
manage and control risks including liquidity, credit, market,
business, regulatory, operational and reputational risks that
may have an impact on the Group.
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Risk Management Function

The Group has established a robust risk management framework,
which consists of the Board, the Audit Committee and Senior
Management of the Group. The Board determines the nature and
extent of risks that shall be taken in achieving the Group's strategic
objectives, and has the overall responsibility for monitoring the
overall effectiveness of risk management. The Group identifies
key risks that would adversely affect the achievement of the
Group’s objectives, and assesses and prioritises the identified
risks according to a set of standard criteria. Risk mitigation plans
are then established by the risk owners to manage the risks to
acceptable level.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, has reviewed annually
the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management system for the
year ended 31st December 2023. Based on the findings and the
comments of the Audit Committee, the Board considers that the
Group's risk management system is effective and adequate.

External Auditor

The Audit Committee is responsible for considering the
appointment, re-appointment and removal of external auditor
subject to endorsement by the Board and final approval and
authorisation by shareholders of the Company in general
meeting. The Audit Committee assesses the external auditor,
taking into account factors such as the performance and quality
of the audit and the objectivity and independence of auditor.
PricewaterhouseCoopers resigned as the Company’s auditor on
4th October 2023 and Mazars CPA Limited was appointed on the
same day to fill the casual vacancy and to hold office until the
conclusion of the 2024 AGM.

External Auditor’'s Remuneration

The Group was charged HK$968,000 and HK$125,000 by Mazars
CPA Limited for audit and non-audit services respectively for the
year ended 31st December 2023. The non-audit services consist of
taxation services.

Financial Reporting

The Board, supported by the accounts department, is responsible
for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the
Company and the Group. In preparing the consolidated financial
statements, the Board has adopted generally accepted accounting
standards in Hong Kong and complied with accounting standards
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Appropriate accounting policies have also been used and applied
consistently.

The reporting responsibilities of the external auditor are set out in
the Independent Auditor's Report on pages 38 to 44 of this annual
report.
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Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding Directors’
and employees’ securities transactions on terms no less exacting
than the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers (the “Model Code") as set out in Appendix C3 to the
Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, they
had complied with the required standards of the said code during
the year.

Shareholders’ Rights

The Board and management shall ensure shareholders’ rights
and all shareholders are treated equitably and fairly. Pursuant to
the Company’s Bye-laws, any shareholder entitled to attend and
vote at a general meeting of the Company is entitled to appoint
another person as his proxy to attend and vote instead of him. In
addition, shareholders who hold not less than one-tenth of the
paid up capital of the Company shall have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary of the Company,
to require a special general meeting to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business specified in such requisition. The
requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, and must be
signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the registered office
of the Company, and may consist of several documents in like
form each signed by one or more requisitionists. If the Directors do
not within 21 days from the date of the deposit of the requisition
proceed duly to convene a meeting, the requisitionists, or any of
them representing more than one half of the total voting rights of
all of them, may themselves convene a meeting, but any meeting
so convened shall not be held after the expiration of three (3)
months from the said date.
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Shareholders’ Rights (Continued)

Moreover, shareholders who hold not less than one-twentieth
of the paid up capital of the Company or not less than 100
shareholders shall have the right, by written requisition to the
Board or the Company Secretary of the Company, to put forward
a resolution which may properly be moved and is intended to
be moved at an annual general meeting. The Company shall not
be bound to give notice of the proposed resolution or circulate a
statement with respect to the matter referred to in the proposed
resolution to shareholders unless (a) a copy of the requisition
signed by the requisitionists, or two or more copies which between
them contain the signatures of all the requisitionists, is deposited
at the registered office of the Company not less than six (6) weeks
before the meeting in the case of a requisition requiring notice of
a resolution and not less than one (1) week before the meeting
in the case of any other requisition and (b) there is deposited or
tendered with the requisition a sum reasonably sufficient to meet
the Company’s expenses in giving effect thereto. If, however,
after a copy of the requisition requiring notice of a resolution has
been deposited at the registered office of the Company, an annual
general meeting is called for a date six (6) weeks or less after the
copy has been deposited, the copy though not deposited within the
time required as referred to above shall be deemed to have been
properly deposited for the purposes thereof.

Chairmen of the various Board committees, or failing the
Chairmen, any member from the respective committees, must
attend the annual general meetings of the Company to address
shareholders’ queries. External auditor shall also be invited to
attend the Company’s annual general meetings and are available
to assist the Directors in addressing queries from shareholders
relating to the conduct of the audit and the preparation and content
of its auditor’s report.

For each substantially separate issue at a general meeting, a
separate resolution would be proposed. Resolutions put to the
vote at any general meeting (other than those on procedural and
administrative matters) are taken by poll. Procedures regarding
the conduct of the poll are explained to the shareholders at the
commencement of each general meeting, and questions (if any)
from shareholders regarding the voting procedures would be
answered.
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Investor Relations

The Company believes in regular and timely communication with
shareholders as part of its efforts to help shareholders understand
its business better and the way the Company operates.

To promote effective communication with the public at large,
the Company maintains a website on which comprehensive
information about the Company, its major businesses, financial
information and particulars of Directors are posted. The Company's
publications, including press releases, announcements, annual and
interim reports, shareholders circulars are being made available on
this website (http://perennial.todayir.com).

In addition, shareholders who have any enquiries regarding the
Company may send their enquiries in writing to the principal place
of business of the Company in Hong Kong for the attention of
the Company Secretary who will then forward the same to the
Board and/or the relevant Board committees for response (where
appropriate). The Company reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the shareholders’ communication policy and
considered it to be effective.

To support environmental protection, save costs and enhance
efficient communication between the Company and Shareholders,
pursuant to Rule 2.07A of the Listing Rules effective from 31st
December 2023, the Company has implemented the electronic
dissemination of corporate communication. Details of such
arrangements are set out on the Company's website.

The Bye-laws of the Company is available on the websites of the
Company (http://perennial.todayir.com) and the Stock Exchange
(www.hkexnews.hk). At the annual general meeting held on
23rd May 2023, a special resolution was passed to approve
amendments to the Bye-laws and to adopt the new Bye-laws.

Company Secretary

Mr. Lai Wing Hong is the company secretary of the Company. He
has complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules and has taken
no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the
financial year ended 31st December 2023.
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Directors’ Attendance at Board, Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee,
Nomination Committee, Compliance
Committee and General Meetings

Audit Remuneration ~ Nomination  Compliance
Board Committee Committee Committee Committee General
Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings
Ezg ENZES §MzES REZEE ERZEE
L ] ] EE] B ] BRRAE
Total number of meetings held ~ BZ-FE_=F
during the year ended +-A=+-H
31st December 2023 IHFERRITZ
SHEH 4 3 1 1 1 1
Number of meetings attended: ~ HE& /8 -
Executive Directors HiTES
Mr. MON Chung Hung aRERE
(Chief Executive Officer & (11843
Deputy Chairman) AILE) 4 N/A TNEF N/A REFA N/A NEF 1 1
Mr. SIU Yuk Shing, Marco IR EE
(resigned on 22nd March 2023)  (RZE==%#=4
ZTZREF) 0 N/A NEF N/A N N/A TNER 0 0
Mr. CHAN Chun Yiu RiEERE
(appointed on 22nd March 2023)  (R=ZE==#=F
ZTZHEZA) 4 N/A TNEF N/A NER N/A TER 1 1
Ms. MON Wai Ki, Vicky LEBRLL 4 N/A g N/A NEA N/A TER 1 1
Ms. MON Tiffany RERLT 4 N/A TN N/A @R N/A TR 1 1
Mr. MON Derek hERTE
(appointed on 23rd May 2023)  (R-F==%#%f
ZT=HEZA) 2 N/A TN N/A NER N/A TNER 0 1
Non-Executive Director FHTES
Ms. KOO Di An, Louise ERZRt(1E)
(Chairman) 4 3 1 1 1 0
Independent Non-Executive ~ BUEHTES
Directors
Mr. LAU Chun Kay BB 4 3 1 1 1 1
Mr. LEE Chung Nai, Jones ZRELLE 4 3 1 1 1 1
Ms. CHUNG Kit Ying F2eut 4 3 1 1 1 1




The Board submits their report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31st December
2023.

Principal Activities and Geographical
Analysis of Operations

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the manufacturing and trading
of electric cable and wire products. The activities of the subsidiaries
are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by geographical
segment is set out in note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Five Years Financial Summary

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out below. Due to the change
in accounting policy for land and buildings, the Group has made
retrospective adjustments and restatement on the comparative
amounts for the previous years in accordance with HKAS 8.
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2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E-= T oF T —F ZTTF TNF

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT FHET FET FHET TFET

(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)

(45&E31)) (48&E%1)) (45&E31)) (48&E%1))

Revenue 2% 303,527 324,524 373,472 282,342 301,357
Profit for the year B E A 15,746 18,510 23,597 (11,993) (6,378)
Total assets BEE 454,852 467,328 536,936 480,718 497,885
Total liabilities wafE 45,328 63,158 127,753 103,341 114,752
Total equity B 409,524 404,170 409,183 377,377 383,133

Analysis of the Group’s Performance

An analysis of the Group’s performance is set forth in the Chairman’s
Statement on pages 10 to 12 of this report.

Major Suppliers and Customers

The percentages of purchases and sales for the year attributable to
the Group’s major suppliers and customers respectively, classified
by individual entity, are as follows:
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Purchases REE

— the largest supplier — R ARER

— five largest suppliers combined —RREEEE
Sales HE

— the largest customer —BARF

— five largest customers combined —hAREF,EE

17%
il 57%

36%
78%

27



28

Perennial International Limited 1B %% @ A R A 7

Directors’ Report (Continued)

EEHE(E)

Major Suppliers and Customers (Continued)

None of the directors, their close associates (as defined in the Listing
Rules) or any shareholder (which to the knowledge of the directors
owns more than 5% of the Company's share capital) had an interest
in the major suppliers or customers noted above.

Dividend Policy

Pursuant to the Dividend Policy, the Board shall also take into
account the following factors of the Company and its subsidiaries
when considering the declaration and payment of dividends:

operating and financial results;

cash flow situation;

business conditions and strategies;

future operations and earnings;

taxation considerations;

capital requirements and expenditure plans;

interests of shareholders;

restrictions under the Bermuda Laws and the Company's
memorandum of association and the bye-laws of the
Company; and

() any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.

S@=FzaoTye

S

Results and Appropriations

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated
income statement on page 45 of this report.

The Board does not recommend the payment a final dividend for the
year ended 31st December 2023.

Principal Properties

Details of the principal properties held for the Group’s main
operations are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Details of the principal properties held for investment purposes are
set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

Share issued in the year

No new shares were issued during the year. Details of shares issued
as at 31st December 2023 are set out in note 22 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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Distributable Reserves

As at 31st December 2023, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the laws of Bermuda,
amounted to HK$19,644,000. In addition, the Company's
contributed surplus, amounting to HK$62,548,000 as at 31st
December 2023, is available for distribution. However, the Company
cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of the
contributed surplus if (i) it is, or would after the payment be, unable
to pay its liabilities as they become due; or (i) the net realisable value
of its assets would thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities
and its share capital and share premium account. The Company’s
share premium account with a balance of HK$15,885,000 as at
31st December 2023 is distributable in the form of fully-paid bonus
shares.

Donations

Charitable donations made by the Group during the year amounted
to approximately HK$1,774,000.

Pre-Emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company's
Bye-laws and there is no restriction against such rights under the
laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

Purchase, Sale and Redemption of the

Company'’s Listed Securities

The Company has not redeemed any of its shares during the year.
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company's shares during the year.

Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, more than 25% of the
Company’s issued shares was held by the public as at 20th March
2024, being the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this
annual report, in accordance with Rule 8.08 of the Listing Rules.
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Analysis of Bank Loans and Other

Borrowings

The Group did not have any bank loan and other borrowing as at 31st
December 2023.

Directors

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. MON Chung Hung
(Chief Executive Officer & Deputy Chairman)
Mr. SIU Yuk Shing, Marco (resigned on 22nd March 2023)
Mr. CHAN Chun Yiu (appointed on 22nd March 2023)
Ms. MON Wai Ki, Vicky
Ms. MON Tiffany
Mr. MON Derek (appointed on 23rd May 2023)

Non-Executive Director
Ms. KOO Di An, Louise (Chairman)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. LAU Chun Kay

Mr. LEE Chung Nai, Jones

Ms. CHUNG Kit Ying

Ms. MON Wai Ki, Vicky, Mr. MON Derek and Ms. CHUNG Kit Ying
will retire in accordance with clause 111 of the Company's Bye-laws
at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company. All of
them, being eligible, offer themselves for re- election.

The term of office of each non-executive and independent non-
executive director is not more than three years and subject to
retirement by rotation in accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior

Management

The biographical details of the directors and senior management of
the Company are set out as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Mon Chung Hung, aged 73, is the founder of the Group, the
Chief Executive Officer, the Deputy Chairman, an executive Director,
the Authorised Representative and a member of the compliance
committee of the Board. Mr. Mon has over 45 years of experience
in the electric cable and wire industry. He is responsible for the
Group’s overall strategic planning and policy making. Mr. Mon is a
director of Spector Holdings Limited, the controlling shareholder of
the Company. He is also the husband of Ms. Koo Di An, Louise and
the father of Ms. Mon Wai Ki, Vicky, Ms. Mon Tiffany and Mr. Mon
Derek.

Mr. Chan Chun Yiu, aged 52, is an executive Director, the Authorised
Representative and a member of the compliance committee of
the Board. He is also the Group's Manufacturing Manager and is
responsible for quality management and manufacturing engineering.
He joined the Group in 1997, holds a Bachelor degree and Master
degree in Mechanical Engineering and has over 27 years of
experience in the electric cable and wire industry.

Ms. Mon Wai Ki, Vicky, aged 49, is an executive Director and a
member of the compliance committee of the Board. She graduated
from the Central Queensland University in Australia with a Bachelor
of Communications degree. She joined the Group in 2004. As the
Marketing Executive, she participates in developing marketing
strategies. She is the daughter of Mr. Mon Chung Hung and Ms. Koo
Di An, Louise, and the elder sister of Ms. Mon Tiffany and Mr. Mon
Derek.

Ms. Mon Tiffany, aged 43, is an executive Director and a member
of the compliance committee of the Board. She holds a bachelor’s
double major degree in economics and management from the
University of Sydney, Australia, Diploma in Company Direction from
Hong Kong Institute of Directors, and “RSSGB" certification from
Six Sigma Institute. She joined the Group in 2002. As the Marketing
Communications Manager, she coordinates marketing strategies
and is also responsible for the information system of the Company.
She is the daughter of Mr. Mon Chung Hung and Ms. Koo Di An,
Louise, and the younger sister of Ms. Mon Wai Ki, Vicky and the
elder sister of Mr. Mon Derek.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior

Management (Continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Mon Derek, aged 36, is an executive Director and a member
of the compliance committee of the Board and is also the Group’s
sales and marketing manager. He joined the group in 2013. He
graduated from University of Sydney with a Bachelor of Science
and Technology. He obtained “LSSBB" certification from Six
Sigma Institute. Being the Group’s sales representative, he also
participates in new product development and product sales. Mr.
Mon Derek was elected as an executive Director in the annual
general meeting on 23rd May 2023. Mr. Mon Derek is the son of
Mr. Mon Chung Hung and Ms. Koo Di An, Louise, and the younger
brother of Ms. Mon Wai Ki, Vicky and Ms. Mon Tiffany.

Non-Executive Director

Ms. Koo Di An, Louise, aged 72, is the Chairman, a non-executive
Director, the chairman of the compliance committee and a member
of the audit, remuneration and nomination committees of the Board.
She joined the Group in 1989. Ms. Koo is a director of Spector
Holdings Limited, the controlling shareholder of the Company. She
is also the wife of Mr. Mon Chung Hung and the mother of Ms. Mon
Wai Ki, Vicky, Ms. Mon Tiffany and Mr. Mon Derek.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Lau Chun Kay, B.Sc., MBA, M.A., aged 75, is an independent
non-executive Director, the chairman of the audit, remuneration
and nomination committees and a member of the compliance
committee of the Board. He joined the Group in 1996. Mr. Lau is
a registered professional engineer and holds a master’s degree
in business administration and a bachelor’s degree in electrical
engineering from the University of Hong Kong, and a master degree
in history and a master degree in Philosophy from the Chinese
University of Hong Kong. Mr. Lau is a Life President of the Hong
Kong Electrical Contractors Association, and a past President and
current Secretary General of The Federation of Asian and Pacific
Electrical Contractors Associations. He is also the Executive
Director of the Hong Kong Federation of Electrical and Mechanical
Contractors. He has over 52 years of experience in management and
engineering.

Mr. Lee Chung Nai, Jones, aged 75, is an independent non-executive
Director and a member of the audit, remuneration, nomination and
compliance committees of the Board. He joined the Group in 2010.
Mr. Lee has over 41 years of experience in international trade in toys,
among which Mr. Lee had also operated a toys factory with 2,000
workers in China for 11 years. Mr. Lee had also operated a subsidiary
company in Hong Kong for a listed company in Australia. Mr. Lee has
his own toy company.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior

Management (Continued)

Independent Non-Executive Directors (Continued)

Ms. Chung Kit Ying, aged 49, is an independent non-executive
Director and a member of the audit, remuneration, nomination
and compliance committee of the Board. She joined the Group
in December 2017. Ms. Chung obtained a degree of Bachelor of
Business Administration and a degree of Master of Science in
Finance from the Chinese University of Hong Kong in 1997 and
2007, respectively. Ms. Chung has worked in an international firm
of certified public accountants and the finance department of a
listed group, and has over 25 years of experience in accounting
and auditing. Ms. Chung is a member of Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (“ACCA").

Senior Management

Mr. Wong Andy Tze On, aged 56, is the Chief Financial Officer (the
“CFQ"). He joined the Group in 2021. Mr. Wong has over 26 years
of experience in financial management of multinational corporations.
He was formally an executive director and the CFO of a locally
listed electronic manufacturing group with operations in the US,
and production facilities on Mainland China and Indonesia from
1997 to 2019. From August 2020 to September 2021, Mr. Wong
was the CFO, authorised representative and Company Secretary
of another listed company. Mr. Wong holds a business degree in
accounting from Curtin University of Technology, Western Australia
and a member of He is a fellow member of the CPA Australia and a
member of the Association of Chinese Internal Auditors and the Pan-
Asia Risk and Insurance Management Association.

Mr. Siu Yuk Shing, Marco, aged 64, is the Sales Director of the Group
and is responsible for sales of the Group’s products and product
development. He joined the Group in 1989. Mr. Siu has over 35
years of experience in the electric cable and wire industry. Mr. Siu
resigned as an executive Director and the Authorised Representative
with effect from 22nd March 2023 in order to devote more time on
sales and marketing operations of the Group. Mr. Siu continues to be
the directors of several operating subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Lai Wing Hong, aged 46, is the Finance Manager and Company
Secretary of the Company. He is fellow members of the HKICPA and
the ACCA. He holds a Bachelor (Honours) Degree in Accountancy
from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University and a Master Degree in
Business Administration from the Holmes Institute. Mr. Lai joined
the Group in 2019 and is responsible for finance functions and the
Company Secretary work. He has over 22 years of experience in
auditing and accounting including being the company secretary and
the senior financial executive of a GEM board listed company in
Hong Kong.
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Directors’ Service Contracts

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company
which is not determinable within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Directors’ Material Interests in Transactions,
Arrangements and Contracts that are
Significant in Relation to the Group's

Business

No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in
relation to the Group’s business to which its holding company or the
Company’s subsidiaries was a party, and in which a director of the
Company and the directors’ connected party had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at
any time during the year.

Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests
and Short Positions in the Shares,

Underlying Shares and Debentures

As at 31st December 2023, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executives of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
("SFO")), which were required (i) to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or (ii) pursuant
to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred
to therein or (iii) pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:
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Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each in the Company ZARER0.108 T 2ZER([RHE )
(the “Shares”)
Long Positions in Shares AP ZiFE
Total
interests
Number of shares as % of
REE the relevant
Personal Family Corporate Total issued
Name interests interests interests interests share capital
BRER L AERE
2 EITRA
] PN e EE LR B 2Bt
MON Chung Hung - - 147,352,000 147,352,000 74.06%
A IR (note 1)
(F5E1)
KOO Di An, Louise - 147,352,000 - 147,352,000 74.06%
=kiikey (note 2)
(MH5E2)
LAU Chun Kay 138,000 - - 138,000 0.07%
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Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests
and Short Positions in the Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures

(Continued)

Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each in the Company

(the “Shares”) (Continued)

Long Positions in Shares (Continued)

Note 1: The 147,352,000 Shares were held in the name of Spector
Holdings Limited (“Spector Holdings") which is beneficially
owned as to 99.9% by Mr. Mon Chung Hung and as to the
remaining 0.1% by Ms. Koo Di An, Louise. Therefore, Mr. Mon is
deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Spector Holdings.
Each of Mr. Mon and Ms. Koo is a director of Spector Holdings.

Note 2: Ms. Koo is the wife of Mr. Mon and is thus deemed to be

interested in the Shares in which Mr. Mon is deemed to be

interested.

Interest in Shares of Associated Corporation of the Company

Name of associated
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Mr. Mon Spector Holdings Beneficial owner 99.9%

wEE BEREFAA

Ms. Koo Spector Holdings Beneficial owner 0.1%

B+ EREFEA

All the interests stated above represent long positions. Save as
disclosed above, as at 31st December 2023, none of the Directors
and chief executives of the Company had any interests or short
positions in any shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO or to be entered in the register referred to therein
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO.

Other than those disclosed above, at no time during the year ended
31st December 2023 was the Company or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors or chief
executives of the Company or any of their associates to acquire
benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests in the
Share Capital of the Company

As at 31st December 2023, as far as known to the Directors, the
following person (other than the Directors and chief executives
of the Company) had an interest or short position in the Shares or
underlying Shares which would be required to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO or as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO:
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Total

interests

Number of Shares as % of

B EE the relevant

Personal Family Corporate Other Total issued

Name interests interests interests interests interests share capital
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Spector Holdings 147,352,000 - - - 147,352,000 74.06%
Limited (note 1)
(1)

Note 1: Spector Holdings is owned as to 99.9% by Mr. Mon and as to the

remaining 0.1% by Ms. Koo.

All the interests stated above represent long positions. Save as
disclosed above, as at 31st December 2023, the Directors are not
aware of any other person who had an interest or a short position
in the Shares as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.

Management Contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year.

Directors’ Interest in Competing Business

None of the Directors has an interest in any business which
competes or is likely to compete with the business of the Group.
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Business Review

Business review of the Group is set forth in the Chairman’s
Statement on pages 5 to 9 of this report.

Permitted Indemnity Provisions

At no time during the financial year and up to the date of this
Directors’ Report, there was or is, any permitted indemnity provision
being in force for the benefit of any of the directors of the Company
(whether made by the Company or otherwise) or an associated
company (if made by the Company).

Auditor

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by Mazars
CPA Limited who will retire at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment.

On behalf of the Board

Koo Di An, Louise
Chairman

Hong Kong, 20th March 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

8 M B BT ] S

mazars

To the shareholders of Perennial International Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Perennial
International Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”) set out on pages 45 to 131, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31st December 2023, the consolidated income statement,
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting
policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 31st
December 2023, and of its financial performance and cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Mazars CPA Limited
FERREB)STMEXRMERAT
42nd Floor, Central Plaza

18 Harbour Road

Wanchai, Hong Kong
BBETBEE 18P IRESA2E
Tel E&% : +852 2909 5555

Fax {25 : +852 2810 0032

Email &S : info@mazars.hk
Website #94 : www.mazars.hk
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Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
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consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these

matters.

Key Audit Matter
HRETER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
B ETTNAEERRETSE

Valuation of investment properties

REMENGE

The Group owns investment properties in Hong Kong
and the People’'s Republic of China (the “"PRC") for
investment purpose. These properties are classified
as investment properties according to their use
with carrying amount of HK$80.6 million as at 31st
December 2023. For the year ended 31st December
2023, revaluation loss of HK$5.6 million relating to the
investment properties is recorded in the consolidated
income statement.

ERENREERPEARKEMNE ( [FE] ) BEREY
(ERERE - 25WERBERARESERKRENE
EAfg:—fﬁwaﬂ =+—BHREERS.6BEBTT °
BE_TZ_=F+_A=+—HIFE SGREVXEHA
méﬁﬁiﬂ% 6EEAB T ARE am T o

The valuations of the investment properties are
inherently subjective due to, among other factors, the
individual nature of each property and its location.

AR (AReiE) SYENELE KA - iREY
ENEEREEBN ML

The valuations of the investment properties were carried
out by independent professional qualified valuer.

REMENGEHBELEES BRMEEMET -

We identified the valuation of investment properties
as a key audit matter because of its significance to the
consolidated financial statements and the judgement
and estimation involved in the valuation and the
determination of the key assumptions applied in the
valuation model.

BB EMENGERBRETFE - DERNELES
B BBERAEE AR GEREE G ERE A FTER
RABR R RS P e B Il K (5t o

Related disclosures are included in notes 2.7, 4.2 and 16
to the consolidated financial statements.

MHEREHN G M BHRRME2.7 - 42K16 -

Our key procedures, where applicable on a sample basis,

included:

AT TR AR R e (RR3E ) 848

o Obtaining an understanding of the management’s
internal control and assessment process of
valuation for investment properties and assessing
the inherent risk of material misstatement by
considering the degree of estimation uncertainty
and level of other inherent risk factors;

. THREEEHREMEGENAIES RTEBE
2 UWBRERMFN T EEEEEREMESRR
9 R = AT SRR iy B B R

o Assessing the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the independent professional qualified
valuer;

° R
M

VYEEABRMGEMNBEND N RFE

° Assessing the reasonableness of the valuation
methods, key assumptions and underlying data
including comparable market transactions adopted
by the independent professional qualified valuer
based on our knowledge of the market;

o  MREBRMEAMSHTHE FHBEIZEESERMEE
%%%m%ﬁﬁi %&F“&ﬁ%%ﬁ%ﬁ%Tﬁ
LEEMSERS)ME R

° Performing sensitivity analysis of the key
assumptions to assess what changes thereto,
either individually or collectively, would result in a
different conclusion being reached and assessing
whether there were any indicators of management
bias in the selection of key assumptions; and

o HEREBETERESNT - LEHE RS (E5]
) @B BUEK TR - Wl h S EERE R
FREEFEBEREEBRENETATR : &

o Considering the adequacy of the Group’s disclosure
in respect of the fair value measurement.

s EZRE EBEEEEMAAEENKREBEIREM -
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Independent Auditor's Report (Continued)
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Key Audit Matters (Continued)

BRETSEEEA)

Key Audit Matter
BRENER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BANETT O EERRENSE

Impairment of land and buildings
T REFHRE
The carrying amount of the Group’s property, plant and
equipment amounted to HK$134.4 million as at 31st
December 2023. Of which, the total carrying amount of
the Group’s land and buildings amounted to HK$113.6
million at 31st December 2023. Any impairment of
those assets identified may have material impact on the
consolidated financial statements.
RZZEZ=F+=ZA=+—H  BEEXENYDE -  BE
RENKREERIB4ABEBT - BF  RZT_=F
+TZA=+—H > EBEXEENITHEEFNRELER
113.6B&BTT - ZECHBANEELREMRER L H
FEVBHREABRNEATE -

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviewed
internal and external sources of information, including
but not limited to technical obsolescence to usage,
significant change in use of assets with adverse effect
on the Group and economic performance of an asset was
expected to be worse than expected, to assess whether
there is any indication that land and buildings may be
impaired.

RERERR - BEEEHABRINREHERR - 6
FETRNREMBR - 8 EXEEKAETENEARE
ERENEREENCENRIESNE - KA i RE
FREFEEMBEDR

If any such indication exists, an impairment test will be
conducted. The carrying amounts of the assets will be
written down to their recoverable amounts which are
the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value
in use. The Group shall perform impairment assessment
on land and buildings by estimating the recoverable
amounts of the cash generating units (“CGUs") to which
the land and buildings belong principally based on their
value in use or, if applicable, to measure the recoverable
amount of certain individual land and building with
reference to their fair value less costs of disposal.
WEEEANEENR - BETRENR - EEMKEE
REZATRE SRR - AR R ERE B SR REBE
Bz&e®E - BSEEESLHEREFERET G  LE
ERATAEBENT G T RIEFBENIR S EEEN
( [BeELSBAM] ) 2AIKREIRE % (WEA) 2%
= TERN L REFORAEREERNAERZETEE

WA BB E -

Our key procedures, where applicable on a sample basis,
included:

TPIARAR T UETTRORERAZ Fr (RUE R ) B 15 -

o Discussing the process and basis used to identify
indicators of impairment of land and buildings
with management and reviewing profitability of
land and buildings, where such indicators were
identified, assessing whether management had
performed impairment testing in accordance with
the requirements of HKFRSs;

e HEBEMNmANBRNERETRE L REFZ
MR R ERE - WERETHREFHRFE - RE
EAZERENR  HEEEENREIFHAISER
BEBMBSREER 2 ERMEST

o Assessing the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the independent professional qualified
valuer;

o iﬁ%ﬁ%%éﬁ%ﬁﬁ%m%ﬁﬁ~%ﬁ&§ﬁ

o Assessing the reasonableness of the valuation
methods, key assumptions and underlying data
including comparable market transactions adopted
by the independent professional qualified valuer
based on our knowledge of the market;

e BERMUMBHTE FEBILEXSERMGE
BOFTER AN A (B 77 % - FASRRER RABRAEIR (B 15T
BHEMSERF )M

° Performing sensitivity analysis of the key
assumptions to assess what changes thereto,
either individually or collectively, would result in a
different conclusion being reached and assessing
whether there were any indicators of management
bias in the selection of key assumptions; and

o  HEAREKRRETBREDN - AT A MIEZ ) (&5
A EBBUEK TR - WA hEE 2R
REEAFEEEERENEIATR : &

° Considering the adequacy of the Group's disclosure
in respect of the impairment assessment.

s EE EEEARRENEMNEREZRRE -
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BRETSEEEA)

Key Audit Matter
BRENER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BANETT O EERRENSE

We identified the impairment of land and buildings as
a key audit matter because of its significance to the
consolidated financial statements and the judgement and
estimation involved in the impairment review and test
of land and buildings including the consideration of the
indicators of impairment and the determination of the key
assumptions applied in the impairment model.

BAEN T REFRRERBARES TR - DEREY
A MIERERNEE M AR i RIEFHRER KB
Ry R FIET Rt (BREERBEREREERER
BIFTEAMEARRE) o

Related disclosures are included in notes 2.8, 4.5, 4.6
and 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

BRABED BN RS M5 HRRME2.8 45 4.6K15°

Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the 2023 annual report of the Company but does not
include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon, which we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s
report, and the environmental, social and governance report (the
“ESG report”) for the year 2023, which is expected to be made
available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not and will not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed on the other information that we obtained up
to the date of this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the ESG report for the year 2023, if we conclude
that there is a material misstatement therein, we are required
to communicate the matter to the Audit Committee and take
appropriate action considering our legal rights and obligations.
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Independent Auditor's Report (Continued)
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Responsibilities of Directors and the Audit
Committee for the Consolidated Financial

Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of

the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal
control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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Independent Auditor's Report (Continued)
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. WWe remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
year and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 20th March 2024

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is:

Chan Hiu Fun

Practising Certificate number: P05709
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
ma W R

For the year ended 31st December 2023
BE-—_F-_=—F+-_A=+—HIFE

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—
Note HK$°000 HK$'000
MI5E FHExT FET
(Restated)
(48E3)))
Revenue Weas 5 303,527 324,524
Cost of sales SHE R (217,101) (245,139)
Gross profit EF 86,426 79,385
Other income G 6 9,867 9,259
Distribution expenses DX (7,259) (7,709)
Administrative expenses THRAX (56,088) (53,902)
Other operating expenses, net HAaQ g F5E 7 (14,686) (4,572)
Reversal of impairment loss on B S W IRRERBE
trade receivables (o] 3.1(iii) 41 11
Operating profit £ g 8 18,301 22,472
Finance costs B E A 9 (689) (1,960)
Profit before taxation B A5 A e A1) 17,612 20,512
Taxation TiIg 10(a) (1,866) (2,002)
Profit for the year attributable to RAFRRR B FEE
shareholders of the Company gl 15,746 18,510
Basic and diluted earnings per share FIEAR M EE AT
(HK cents) (L) 11 7.9 9.3

The above consolidated income statement should be read in L4 aUkesREERBEY T —FFEE o
conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
REERHEWE R

For the year ended 31st December 2023
BE_FT_=—Ff+_H=1—HIFE

2023 2022
—E-=HF —=E-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
(Restated)
(48E3)))
Profit for the year NEE 7 15,746 18,510
Other comprehensive loss: Hib 2 H/EE
ltem that may be reclassified HEgngeesmofis
subsequently to profit or loss: EmAMIER
Exchange difference arising from HREIEINE TS SRR
translation of financial statements of ZIERER
foreign operations (4,423) (19,544)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for AR AR FE(RARFE
the year attributable to shareholders 2mEE (E518) B8
of the Company 11,323 (1,034)

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income  _Fii4a 2 EIES 3 fEE BB M — 0t -
should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e B IR &

As at 31st December 2023
R-ZF—_=ZF1+=-HA=+—H

31st December

Annual Report 2023 4 3R

31st December

1st January

2023 2022 2022
—E-=F —E—— ST SE
+=B=+—-B +=-A=+—H —H—H
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BaE FET FET FAET
(Restated) (Restated)
(42 &E7) (C=27))
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets JEMEEE
Property, plant and equipment M - WE R 15 134,419 186,569 216,092
Investment properties BEMHE 16 80,644 47,154 43,100
Non-current deposits FERBET S 390 239 234
Deferred tax assets BT IE B B 10(b) 7,742 7,080 6,666
223,195 241,042 266,092
Current assets BB E
Inventories 7E 17 110,269 146,106 161,542
Trade and bills receivables B 5 REWGIE K
eSS 18 69,054 52,159 78,010
Other receivables, deposits EAb IR -
and prepayments HES S 5,542 5,809 11,551
Financial assets at fair value RAR BT AER
through profit or loss M EE 19 7,712 - -
Derivative financial instruments TEeMTAE 20 - 1,100 28
Tax recoverable AT EI IR 72 64 405
Cash and cash equivalents HeRESZEY 21 39,008 21,048 19,308
231,657 226,286 270,844
Total assets 1B E 454,852 467,328 536,936
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)

ReaPBRK (&)

As at 31st December 2023
RZFEZ=#F+-H=+—H

31st December 31st December 1st January
2023 2022 2022
—E-=F T T
+=ZA=+—-HBH +=A=1+—H —A—H
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B s FET FHT T
(Restated) (Restated)
(AZE5) (45 E5l|)
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to shareholders 7K/ & AR 58 FE(L g 24
of the Company
Share capital Bz 22 19,896 19,896 19,896
Reserves & 389,628 384,274 389,287
Total equity BRETS 409,524 404,170 409,183
LIABILITIES 8fE
Non-current liabilities ERBAE
Lease liabilities Tﬁfﬁﬁ 15(b) 47 = 77
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFIE R & 10(b) 6,182 6,487 6,728
6,229 6,487 6,805
Current liabilities REBRE
Trade and other payables B 5 R EMESR
FKIA 23 34,985 29,478 42,051
Lease liabilities HEaE 15(b) 454 77 454
Derivative financial instruments PTESRT A 20 410 — —
Tax payable FERITHIE 3,250 4,341 4,071
Borrowings e 24 - 22,775 74,372
39,099 56,671 120,948
Total liabilities waE 45,328 63,158 127,753
Total equity and liabilities = NREEE 454,852 467,328 536,936

The consolidated financial statements on pages 45 to 131 were H45F 131 BV G AMBERENR S —IME= A
approved by the Board of Directors on 20th March 2024 and were —+HEEZ@H AETRKREEZ o
signed on its behalf by

MON Chung Hung CHAN Chun Yiu
IR PRI I8
Director Director
3 EFE
The above consolidated statement of financial position should be AR S B GO R BB R BE M MY s —(F B8 -

read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

S A flE X
mEeEERgHR

For the year ended 31st December 2023
BE_FE_=—F+_H=+—HIFE

Reserves
it
Exchange Capital
Share Share  fluctuation redemption  Statutory Retained Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve earnings Total equity
EX g5
ke RGEE  2BRE  BERE  iREE  REEA a5 fgs
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn Tén TERL TEn Thn TERL TEn TR
(Note)
(i)
At 1st January 2023 (Restated) R=Z==%—A—R(4Z7)) 19,896 15,885 (11,283) 104 12365 367203 3842714 404,170
Profit for the year KEERH - - - - - 15,746 15,746 15,746
Other comprehensive loss ~ Eft2EEE
Exchange difference arising ~ AEBNERELZ
from translation of foreign ~~ ERZEE
operations - - (4,423) - - - (4,423) (4,423)
Totel comprehensive (oss)/  AFE2ME(ER) /WA
income for the year - - (4,423) - - 15,746 11323 11323
Transaction withowners ~~ BEAARS
Contributions and distributions #& R 7%
Transfer to statutory reserve  ERE LTS - - - - 511 (511) - -
Dividend paid (note 12) BRREHEE2) - - - - - (5,969) (5,969) (5,969)
- - - - 511 (6,480) (5,969) (5,969
At 31st December 2023 RZB==E4=fA=+-H 19,896 15,885 (15,706) 104 12,876 376,469 389,628 409,524
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Continued)
HEE=mEFHR(E)

For the year ended 31st December 2023
BE T _=F1+_H=+—HIFE

read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Re§erves
]
Land and
Exchange building Capital
Share Share  fluctuation ~ revaluation redemption  Statutory  Retained Total
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve  eamings Total equity
/ - ER HHRET EX B , .
Br RhEE  BBEE  EfRE  BORE  iEBE  RERY @t s
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thr i Thr T Thr ThL Thr T Thr
(Restated)  (Restated) (Note) ~ (Restated)  (Restated)  (Restated)
(4z7)  (425)) (i) (&Z5) (£25)  (£27)
At 31st December 2021 RZE--%1+ZA
S=fl 19,896 15,885 21,102 228,603 104 11473 265,995 549,162 569,058
Effect on change inaccounting ~ £F &3 H5HNT 2
policy - - (18,841)  (228,603) = - 87,569 (159,875)  (159,875)
At 1st January 2022 RZE-Z%-P-H
(Restated) (#E7]) 19,89 15,885 8261 - 104 11473 353564 389287 409,183
Profit for the year (Restated) KR F|(#27)) = = = = = - 18510 18,510 18,510
Qther comprehensive loss EhEEEE
Exchange difference arising BB EBELY
from translation of foreign B ZE(#Z7))
operations (Restated) - - (19,544) - - - - (19,544) (19,544)
Total comprehensive AER2A(ER)/
(losslfincome for Wi s)
the year (Restated) = - (19,544) - - - 18,510 (1,034) (1,034)
Transaction with owners HEEARS
Contributions and distributions &R
Transfer o statutory reserve  BEZATRE - - - - - 892 (892) - -
Dividend paid (note 12) ERREHT12) - = = = - - (3,979 3979 (3979
- - - - - 892 (4,871) (3,979 (3979
At 31st December 2022 i S gy
(Restated) =+-H(#E7)) 19,8% 15,885 (11,283) - 104 12,365 367,203 384,274 404,170
Note: In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations of the PRC,  Mi#t @ RIBEFBBEEAELER  AARNPEKBELR
the Company’s PRC subsidiaries are required to appropriate to the AIZART D RBRBLE R T (Z P BB A RIRIR
statutory reserve an amount not less than 10% of the amount of FREHERBRHRNS BEEMBRERMZ®R)
profit after taxation (as reported in the respective statutory financial 10% S BB AETE B o WRBEMEEREE
statements of the PRC subsidiaries prepared in accordance with B = BB A Bl A AR50% + BIFE QA
the PRC accounting regulations). If the accumulated statutory BABEERE— PR - KE@ERIER -
reserve reaches 50% of the registered capital of the respective YATE A AT AR BE R AT B 1B S I B A Al
PRC subsidiary, the subsidiary may not be required to make any FEMER -
further appropriation. The statutory reserve can be utilised, upon
approval by the relevant authorities, to offset accumulated losses or
to increase registered capital of the subsidiary.
The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be  _Fii4r& EzsE B3 e RpEMI M — 0t -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

RERTRER

For the year ended 31st December 2023
BE_FE_=—F+_H=+—HIFE

conjunction with the accompanying notes.

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—
Note HK$°000 HK$'000
MI5E FHET T
Cash flows from operating activities BETENESRE
Cash generated from operations EEEANIRS 26(a) 63,226 63,807
Hong Kong profits tax paid, net EREANEHFE (489) (219)
Overseas income tax paid, net BAEINTSRFRE (3,513) (1,712)
Interest paid EAFLE (689) (1,960)
Net cash generated from operating CIEEHELAMNFRE
activities 58,535 59,916
Cash flows from investing activities RETENRESRE
Purchase of property, plant and BEME  WEMRE
equipment (4,114) (1,673)
Deposits paid for property, plant and SE - BB RRE
equipment Kzl & (151) =
Interest received B R 2, 444 31
Purchase of financial assets at FVPL BERAEABR
MBS EE (7,788) =
Proceeds from sale of property, HEWE - REREE
plant and equipment Fr{S5k3A 309 21
Net cash used in investing activities B EHTANFERS (11,300) (1,621)
Cash flows from financing activities BRERENRERE
Net repayment of bank loans RERRITER 26(b) (19,000) (41,000)
Net repayment of trust receipt loans FEREFTREER 26(b) (3,775) (10,597)
Payments for principal portion of TNHEaERESEHY
the lease liabilities 26(b) (445) (454)
Dividend paid B S 12 (5,969) (3,979)
Net cash used in financing activities mMEEBFTRAEES (29,189) (56,030)
Net increase in cash and HERBEESEEN
cash equivalents RN 18,046 2,265
Cash and cash equivalents at REFzRERREE
beginning of year B9 21,048 19,308
Exchange difference on cash and ReERAEEEBYM2
cash equivalents EHER (86) (525)
Cash and cash equivalents at MNERZIRER
end of year EHEZEEY 21 39,008 21,048
The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in  _Eii4r &R & B R EERBEMIMIE—0(8:E -

ol
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BB HRRE

For the year ended 31st December 2023
BE T _=F1+_H=+—HIFE

General Information

Perennial International Limited (the “"Company”) is an
investment holding company. The Company and its
subsidiaries (together the “"Group”) are principally engaged
in the manufacturing and trading of electric cable and wire
products. The principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out
in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated
in Bermuda and its shares are listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The address of its registered office is Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda.

These consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$") and all amounts have been
rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise stated.

Summary of Principal Accounting Policies

2.1 Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"), which collective
term includes all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“"HKASs") and Interpretations issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA"), accounting principles generally accepted
in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the
Companies Ordinance (the “CQO"). These consolidated
financial statements also comply with the applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”).

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a basis consistent with the accounting
policies adopted in the 2022 consolidated financial
statements except for the adoption of the following
new/revised HKFRSs that are relevant to the Group and
change in accounting policy effective from the current
year.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements is historical
cost, except for investment properties, financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL") and
derivative financial instruments, which are measured at
fair value as explained in the accounting policies set out
below.

—REFR
BHEEERAR(ARR ) BREERA
Al e AR R EKE AR (AR [ AEH])E
ENFZELRBETERNERER - EWE
NAZ EBEBHE NGRS MEIRKRMTES -

AR RBREFMRKIA—BHERA
A HRONEBHEERZFAAR A A (5
RETDERET - EEMH SR A
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton
HM11, Bermuda °

BREREWS - UEHEAHBRENET
(BT )25 - TFA & BRI EE BB
F7 -

FTESTHRUE

21 2HE%E
S AN RECRESSEHA
([EELHMAE )EFZ BBHG
A ([ BB BHRE LD - 6F
FEEREANBHREED  B8e
R ([EBEER ) RRE) - &
AARE R R (D AERYT AT
&0 ) BBER TR - ZEEAHR
XK INBPHFT B S FiRRI( E R
8l B FHEARE

HZEFCYBRRNBRUELER —F
— FRAVBRERMRANETERR
—B MR T X E AR E AR
Ha] /S ERT BB B REEAN R AR
FREEERNGTHBEREE R o

REZFHEAM BRI 2T EE
ERELKA - MEREYE - mARE
st ARz (MR AR ER AR ]DOFB
BERMTESRTAARAAERE
HEJRN T XS TR



Annual Report 2023 4 3R

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

AR B B R MY RE (AR

For the year ended 31st December 2023
HE—F-_=—F+-_A=+1—HIFE

2. Summary of Principal Accounting Policies 2. FESHBEHBE(E)
(Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and 22 B BERBEEES
disclosures
2.2.1 Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs 211%@%%/@%%?%%%#%
28|
The Group has applied, for the first time, the AEECHAERHEAEEFRA
following new/revised HKFRSs that are relevant to HLATHE] RIETEBTIER
the Group: HAER

Amendments to HKAS 1

BB STERE1RUBRTA)
Amendments to HKAS 8

ARG TERESH (EFTA)
Amendments to HKAS 12

BERGETERE 125 (BRTA)
Amendments to HKAS 12
BB GRTERIFE 125 (IBFTA)

Amendments to HKAS 1: Disclosure of
Accounting Policies

The amendments require companies to disclose
their material accounting policy information rather
than their significant accounting policies.

The amendments have no effect on the
measurement, recognition or presentation of any
items in the consolidated financial statements.
Management has reviewed the disclosure of
accounting policy information and considered it is
consistent with the amendments.

Amendments to HKAS 8: Definition of
Accounting Estimates

The amendments clarify how companies should
distinguish changes in accounting policies from
changes in accounting estimates.

The adoption of the amendments does not
have any significant impact on the consolidated
financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12: Deferred Tax
related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of the
recognition exemption in paragraphs 15 and
24 of HKAS 12 so that it no longer applies to
transactions that, on recognition, give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences.

The adoption of the amendments does not
have any significant impact on the consolidated
financial statements.

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies

BB

Definition of Accounting
Estimates

BEHEFTHESR

Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction

HE - HELENEEKAER
FARYIEET I

International Tax Reform—Pillar
Two Model Rules

BIFR IR 23 — AR A SR
BEBEERE1R (BTZE) -
RIE

gif
ZECISRARREEIER
SHHEAN  MEEBAGIE
%o

S BT HRE M EHRENERT
15 051 & - R 25
2. ERECENRI R AN
ZBE AHREFEIAR
TJ’_ o

FRB I EAIEEH (BT -
B i TR

ZE B A A E M
BB SR HEH B R

g7 °

RNZFIER] HHiR & M B AL
BEIMEATE -

=

BB ERF 125 (I57TX) :
HE-XGELHEEREEH
BRyEEHE

REER ERB G ENE12
SR 16 R2AB R B EE -
FEETHERREREREELA
SRR R AT B R

TS
SRR S 5 5T iR A I R

A f
BEREATE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AW EWmERM (&)

For the year ended 31st December 2023
BE T _=F1+_H=+—HIFE

2. FEEHHEMEE)

22 SHBHERBESE(E)
221 RGFET /SIET BB HERE

2. Summary of Principal Accounting Policies

(Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (Continued)
2.2.1 Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12: International Tax
Reform —Pillar Two Model Rules

The amendments provide entities with temporary
relief from accounting for deferred taxes arising
from the Organisation for Economic Co-operation
and Development’s Pillar Two model rules. The
Amendments also introduce targeted disclosure
requirements to help investors understand an
entity’s exposure to income taxes arising from the
rules.

The adoption of the amendments does not
have any significant impact on the consolidated
financial statements.

2.2.2 Future changes in HKFRSs

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated
financial statements, the HKICPA has issued the
following new/revised HKFRSs that are not yet
effective for the current year, which the Group
has not early adopted.

Amendments to HKAS 1

BB EFERIE1RUBETA)
Amendments to HKAS 1

ARG ERFE 1RSI A)
Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7
BEBSEERIETR(BFTAR) R BB
WRELERF7HRUSETA)
Amendments to HKFRS 16

BB EIwEERF165% (BFTA)
Amendments to HKAS 21
BB EFERE21R(BETAR)

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1st January 2024

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1st January 2025

The directors do not anticipate that the adoption
of the new/revised HKFRSs in future periods will
have any material impact on the results of the
Group.

ZR(%)
BEBETERIE 125 (1857 %) -
BB B AR R — MR
AZFER R BEA EBRRAM
B STAE — 3R Rl BB A P E A VIR AT
MIE 2 @5t B2 IR A B AR R (L E B
TR o ZFERT IS A HIE
WEEK - UIHBIREE THE
EBHERELBARMAAMNPIER
R

RNZFIER] HR A MR
BIMEATE -

222 FEEMBHREEORREE
REEFAVGRREREER
B ZESEASERMRA
FERAEMARNEE L EREZF
PRV A THE] T BB
BiREER

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or
Non-current '
BESBEARBIERE)
Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants '
WA ErIERB B E
Supplier Finance Arrangements '

HERRE LB

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback '

EREDNHEERRE

Lack of Exchangeability 2

TRZ Al A2

L RZZTZWFE—A—HBx 2%
46 B0 F 5 BR R AE R

2 R_ZE-_RAF—A—HB=xz#%
1A B F FE HA RS AR AR

ESEHRKRAEERRN
5B RT BB R iR 2R
TEUARKENEEBREME

=
N7
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

AR B B R MY R (AR

For the year ended 31st December 2023
HE—F-_=—F+-_A=+1—HIFE

2. TEGFBRUE(E)

223 T REFRENSHBREE

2. Summary of Principal Accounting Policies

(Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (Continued)
2.2.3 Change in accounting policy for valuation of

land and buildings

The Group re-assessed its accounting policy for
land and buildings after initial recognition. The
Group had previously adopted the revaluation
model to measure the carrying amount of its land
and buildings whereby, after initial recognition,
the land and buildings were stated at fair value,
based on annual valuations by independent
professional qualified valuer, less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
if any.

The Group elected to change the method of
accounting for land and buildings, as the Group
believes that the cost model would be more
appropriate to reflect the Group's financial
position and business model when the Group
intends to primarily recover the costs of the land
and buildings through use. The Group applied the
cost model retrospectively and the comparative
figures in the consolidated statements of
financial position as at 1st January 2022 and
31st December 2022, and the consolidated
income statement, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
ended 31st December 2022 have been restated.

After the change in method of accounting for
land and buildings, they are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
if any.

AEBEN AR EERNFEE
THREFHETHBOR - A%KE
BRERMAEGHRANGTERL
 MEFERREE - AR A
RIR - LM EBFTREBEBYIEE
EERMGLEMNFEEMGE &
%ﬁ&%ﬁﬁE&mE%EWD
B)  BAREYIER

AEFEREEE Eim&§$mA
A% ThERAEBR

$%Eﬁ$%ﬁﬂﬁ%ﬁ$ﬁﬁ
PAUZ [B] £t & 18 = 9 ik AR B
MABERGEE RS RBRAEE
R IEAR R EBES - REE
HRAENXNBHER  MEEHR
- F—A—RAk=E_—
F+ - A=+ HNEE 5K
MNEUNERBE-_ZT-_—F+_H

=t BUEFENEERER
FARERER ﬁé%*“

%&KH/\ /ﬁui//wgﬁﬂp E’]iﬂ:lﬁ%(
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AW EWmERM (&)

For the year ended 31st December 2023
BE T _=F1+_H=+—HIFE

2. Summary of Principal Accounting Policies

(Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (Continued)
2.2.3 Change in accounting policy for valuation of
land and buildings (Continued)
The tables below summarise the impact as a
result of the change in accounting policy.

2. FEEHHEMEE)

22 SHBHERBESE(E)
223 tHREFHENSHBESE

(&)
TRELSABREEAMELD
%Z%EB ®

2022
~ HK$'000
BT
Decrease in depreciation (included in cost FERD G AHEERA)
of sales) 4,819
Decrease in depreciation (included in TERDGTATTHAL)
administrative expenses) 3,039
Increase in impairment of property, plant and Y% - BB MR EIG N
equipment (included in other operating (FFAE L5 F5)
expenses, net) (4,257)
Increase in deferred tax expenses PEFEFAIA R S 380
(included in income tax) (REAFTISHL) (939)
Increase in profit for the year N [ i A3 N 2,662
(Increase)/Decrease in other comprehensive loss: EihZ2EEL (L) w4 :
Item that will not be reclassified subsequently BB T EEH D IE 0w
to profit or loss: IFH :
Revaluation surplus of land and buildings TH RIEFEGHAER (19,703)
Deferred tax charged to revaluation reserve Nk B B E 2B IE 3,431
[tem that may be reclassified subsequently to HEne e EX D A B e
profit or loss: EH -
Exchange differences arising on translation of E YN A& B i 2k 2 H AR
financial statements of foreign operations EEZERZ 11,550
Increase in other comprehensive loss BrEi18 AN FE H b 2 E 8K
for the year, net of tax 30 (4,722)
Increase in total comprehensive loss for NEE R EIBLLAEEIEN
the year (2,060)
Increase in profit for the year attributable to RARIRREERFEE
shareholders of the Company pial b=yl 2,662
Increase in total comprehensive loss for RABREGAEE
the year attributable to shareholders of SEIER AR N
the Company (2,060)
Increase in basic and diluted earnings TR EAR RS R F|
per share (HK cents) (Bl 1.3




2. Summary of Principal Accounting Policies 2.

(Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

AR B B R MY RE (AR

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and

disclosures (Continued)

2.2.3 Change in accounting policy for valuation of

For the year ended 31st December 2023
ZFFZA=+—HIFE

HBxr—-—F—

FTEEHHRAE(F)

Annual Report 2023 4 3R

22 B BRERBEEEE (E)

223 T REFEENSHABEEE

land and buildings (Continued) (&)
As
previously
reported Effect As restated
LRI2H -z ==l
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FA&IT F&IT FHTT
Consolidated income statement H§EZ - ==
and other comprehensive +=BA=+—H1t
income/(loss) for the year FENGE KRS
ended 31st December 2022 KRR HEMEER
=/ (&8)
Profit for the year INEZ 5 F 15,848 2,662 18,510
Other comprehensive income/ Hih 2wk~
(loss): (FBK) :
Item that will not be reclassified BT 2 EHH4E
subsequently to profit or loss: 2EmmIER -
Revaluation surplus of land and =+ RS~
buildings EHihAfk 19,703 (19,703) =
Deferred tax charged to bk B EhFEEZ
revaluation reserve IRFERIE (3,431) 3,431 -
Item that may be reclassified RGN EF 74
subsequently to profit or loss: FEmmIER -
Exchange differences arising A SN 45 5 B 7Sl =
on translation of financial ZHBMESY
statements of foreign operations [EZR =% (31,094) 11,550 (19,544)
Other comprehensive loss Bt 18 AN F S EAth
for the year, net of tax ESTEES (14,822) (4,722) (19,544)
Total comprehensive income/ /NGl
(loss) for the year attributable to ~ ANEE2EW S
shareholders of the Company (B4 1,026 (2,060) (1,034)
Basic and diluted earnings FREARNE SR
per share (HK cents) (74l) 8.0 1.3 9.3

a7
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BB RARNE(E)

For the year ended 31st December 2023
BE-—_FT-_=—F+-_A=+—HIFE

2. Summary of Principal Accounting Policies 2.
(Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (Continued)
2.2.3 Change in accounting policy for valuation of
land and buildings (Continued)

FTEEHHRAE(F)

22 SHBRERKELE(H)

223 T REFEENSHABEEE
(&)

31st December 1st January

2022 2022
—E-F —E-F
+=-RA=+—8 —B—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHETT FETT
Decrease in property, plant and Y - E KR &R D
equipment (194,215) (190,020)
Decrease in deferred tax assets RIERIBEER D (288) (777)
Decrease in total non-current assets  IERENEEHLE
and total assets REER D (194,503) (190,797)
Decrease in reserves and total equity ZK G E V=15
attributable to the shareholders of BRETOR
the Company (161,935) (159,875)
Decrease in deferred tax liabilities,  BEFRIEEE -
total non-current liabilities and ERBaBEEsEN
total liabilities RE &R (32,568) (30,922)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

AR B B R MY RE (AR

For the year ended 31st December 2023
BE_FE_=—F+_H=+—HIFE

2. Summary of Principal Accounting Policies 2. FESHBEHBE(E)

(Continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policies and 22 B BEREESE(E)
disclosures (Continued)
2.2.3 Change in accounting policy for valuation of 223 T+ REFHEENETBRES
land and buildings (Continued) (&)
As
previously

reported Effect As restated
SR 2R P& s
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHETT FAETT FETT

Consolidated statement of R-TB-_—_F+—-A8

financial position as at =+—HWEE
31st December 2022 BT R

Property, plant and equipment M BRENREE 380,784 (194,215) 186,569
Deferred tax assets BEFTEE E 7,368 (288) 7,080
Total non-current assets FEMENEERR 435,545 (194,503) 241,042
Total assets BEE 661,831 (194,503) 467,328
Reserves s 546,209 (161,935) 384,274
Total equity BRETS 566,105 (161,935) 404,170
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIEE E 39,055 (32,568) 6,487
Total non-current liabilities ERBAERRE 39,055 (32,568) 6,487

Total liabilities BarlE 95,726 (32,568) 63,158
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AW EWmERM (&)

For the year ended 31st December 2023
BE T _=F1+_H=+—HIFE

2. Summary of Principal Accounting Policies 2. FEEHBEHBE(E)

(Continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policies and 22 B BEREESE(E)
disclosures (Continued)
2.2.3 Change in accounting policy for valuation of 223 T+ REFEENETBRES
land and buildings (Continued) (48)
As
previously

reported Effect As restated
e -z K&
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T &I AT

Consolidated statement of A= S

financial position as at —HA—HH®

1st January 2022 IRE MBI

Property, plant and equipment 1% « BiE &% 406,112 (190,020) 216,092
Deferred tax assets RIEFRIIREE 7,443 (777) 6,666
Total non-current assets B EEERE 456,889 (190,797) 266,092
Total assets BEE 727,733 (190,797) 536,936
Reserves & 549,162 (159,875) 389,287
Total equity Mt 569,058 (159,875) 409,183
Deferred tax liabilities BETRIAEE 37,650 (30,922) 6,728
Total non-current liabilities R A EESE 37,727 (30,922) 6,805

Total liabilities weE 158,675 (30,922) 127,753
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2. Summary of Principal Accounting Policies
(Continued)

2.3

24

25

Principles of consolidation

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured
entities) over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or
has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power to direct the activities of the entity.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated,
unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the transferred assets. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs
of investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of dividend received
and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements
exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets
including goodwvill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
chief operating decision-maker.

2.3

24

25
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BB RARNE(E)

For the year ended 31st December 2023

HE—F

SEEFASS—ALFE

2. Summary of Principal Accounting Policies

(Continued)
2.6 Foreign currency translation

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each
of the Group's entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in HK$, which is the Company's
functional and the Group’s presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement
of such transactions and from the translation of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies at year end exchange rate are
generally recognised in profit or loss.

All foreign exchange gains and losses are
presented in the consolidated income statement
on a net basis within other operating expenses,
net.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was determined. Translation differences
on assets and liabilities carried at fair value are
reported as part of the fair value gain or loss.

Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign
operations (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

i) assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement
of financial position;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2. Summary of Principal Accounting Policies

(Continued)
2.6 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(iii) Group companies (Continued)

i) income and expenses for each income
statement and statement of comprehensive
income are translated at an average
exchange rate (unless this is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effects of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses and translated of the date of the
transactions); and

i) all resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of any net investment in
foreign entities, and of borrowings and other
financial instruments designated as hedges
of such investments, are recognised in other
comprehensive income. When a foreign operation
is sold or any borrowings forming part of the net
investment are repaid, the associated exchange
differences are reclassified to profit or loss, as
part of the gain or loss on sale.

2.7 Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings that are
held to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation
which include property interest held under lease carried
at fair value. Land held under lease is accounted for as
investment property when the rest of the definition of
an investment property is met.

Investment property is measured initially at its cost,
including related transaction costs.

After initial recognition, investment property is carried
at fair value representing open market value determined
at each reporting date by independent professional
qualified valuer. Fair value is based on active market
prices, adjusted, if necessary, for any difference in the
nature, location or condition of the specific asset. If the
information is not available, the Group uses alternative
valuation methods such as income approach. Changes
in fair values are recognised in the consolidated income
statement as part of a valuation gain or loss in other
operating expenses, net.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AW EWmERM (&)

For the year ended 31st December 2023
BE T _=F1+_H=+—HIFE

2. Summary of Principal Accounting Policies

(Continued)

2.7 Investment properties (Continued)

Subsequent expenditure is charged to the asset's
carrying amount only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow
to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance costs are
expensed in the consolidated income statement during
the financial period in which they are incurred.

2.8

Property, plant and equipment

(i)

(ii)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets consist of leasehold land
in Hong Kong and land use rights in the PRC
and Vietnam stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses and leased
property in Hong Kong measured in accordance
with accounting policy as disclosed in note 2.9
to the consolidated financial statements. The
above right-of-use assets are presented as the
corresponding underlying assets of the property,
plant and equipment.

Other property, plant and equipment

Other property, plant and equipment consists
of buildings, leasehold improvements, plant
and machinery, furniture and fixtures, office
equipment, motor vehicles and pleasure boats
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses. The cost of an item of other
property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs
of bringing the asset to its working condition
and location for its intended use. Repairs and
maintenance are charged to profit or loss during
the year in which they are incurred.

Construction-in-progress is stated at cost which
comprises construction costs, purchase costs and
other related expenses incurred in connection
with the construction of buildings, leasehold
improvements, plant and machinery for own
use, less provision for impairment losses, if
any. On completion, construction in progress
is transferred to the appropriate categories
of property, plant and equipment at cost less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2. Summary of Principal Accounting Policies

(Continued)
2.8 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Depreciation

Depreciation on leasehold land in Hong Kong and
buildings is calculated to write off their costs less
accumulated impairment losses on a straight-line
basis over the unexpired period of the leases or
their estimated useful lives, whichever is shorter.
The principal annual rates used range from 1.5%
t04%.

Land use rights in the PRC and Vietnam are
depreciated over the lease term on a straight-line
basis.

Other property, plant and equipment, other than
construction in progress, are depreciated at rates
sufficient to write off their costs less accumulated
impairment losses over their estimated useful
lives on a reducing balance basis. The principal
annual rates are as follows:

15%-20%
15%-20%
15%-20%
15%-20%
15%-20%
10%

Leasehold improvements
Plant and machinery
Furniture and fixtures
Office equipment

Motor vehicles

Pleasure boats

No depreciation is provided for construction-in-
progress until they are completed and put into
production ready for their intended use, upon
which they will be transferred to property, plant
and equipment.

Others

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's
carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of
the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All
other repairs and maintenance are expensed in
the consolidated income statement during the
financial period in which they are incurred.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end
of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the
asset’'s carrying amount is greater than its
estimated recoverable amount (note 2.10).
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2. Summary of Principal Accounting Policies
(Continued)
2.8 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

(v)

Gains and losses on disposals

Gains and losses on disposals are determined
by comparing the proceeds with the carrying
amount. These are included in the consolidated
income statement and are recognised within
other operating expenses, net.

2.9 Leases

(i)

As lessee

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and
a lease liability when a lease is capitalised at
the commencement date, except for leases
with a lease term of 12 months or less (“short-
term leases”) and leases of low-value assets.
Payments in relation to short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets are recognised as an
expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.

The lease liability is initially measured at the
present value of lease payments payable with
reference to an expected lease term, which
includes optional lease periods when the Group
is reasonably certain to exercise the option to
extend or not to terminate the lease. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group
uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit
in the lease is not readily determinable. Lease
payments included in the measurement of the
lease liability are made up of fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable, variable payments
that depend on an index or a rate, amounts
expected to be payable under residual value
guarantees and payments arising from options
reasonably certain to be exercised. Variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a rate
are not included in the measurement of the lease
liability and are expensed in the period to which
they relate.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by
increasing its carrying amount to reflect interest
on the lease liability (using the effective interest
rate method) and by reducing its carrying amount
to reflect the lease payments made. The lease
liability is remeasured (with a corresponding
adjustment made to the related right-of-use asset)
when there is a change in future lease payments
in case of renegotiation, changes of an index or
rate or in case of reassessment of options.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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2. FTEEHHEMEE)

29 HE(HE)

2. Summary of Principal Accounting Policies

(Continued)
2.9 Leases (Continued)

(i) As lessee (Continued)

The right-of-use asset is initially measured
at cost which comprises the initial amount
of the lease liability, any initial direct costs
incurred, the obligation to restore the asset,
and any lease payments made in advance of
the commencement date less any incentives
received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently
measured at cost less accumulated depreciation,
applying the depreciation requirements in
HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment and is
subject to impairment review whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable.

(if) Aslessor
Lease payments from properties letting under
operating leases are recognised as rental income
over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

2.10 Impairment of non-financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
internal and external sources of information to assess
whether there is any indication that its property, plant
and equipment may be impaired or impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or may be
reduced. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated, based on the higher
of its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the smallest group of assets
that generates cash flows independently (i.e. cash-
generating unit).

If the recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-
generating unit is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset or cash-
generating unit is reduced to its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses are recognised as an expense
immediately, except where the relevant asset is carried
at revalued amount in which case the impairment loss
is treated as a revaluation decrease in accordance with
the accounting policy relevant to that asset.

A reversal of impairment loss is limited to the carrying
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit that would
have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised in prior years. Reversal of impairment loss is
recognised as income in profit or loss immediately.
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2. Summary of Principal Accounting Policies

(Continued)
2.11 Financial assets

(i)

(i)

Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

o those to be measured subsequently at fair
value (either through other comprehensive
income (“OCI") or through profit or loss);
and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity's
business model for managing the financial assets
and the contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and
losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or
OCI. For investment in equity instruments that are
held for trading, the equity instruments measure
at FVPL. For investments in equity instruments
that are not held for trading, this will depend
on whether the Group has made an irrevocable
election at the time of initial recognition to
account for the equity investment at fair value
through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI").

The Group reclassifies debt investments when
and only when its business model for managing
those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on trade-date, the date on
which the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset. Financial assets are derecognised when
the rights to receive cash flows from the financial
assets have expired or have been transferred and
the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership.
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2. Summary of Principal Accounting Policies

(Continued)
2.11 Financial assets (Continued)

(iii)

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of
a financial asset not at FVPL, transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition of
the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial
assets carried at FVPL are expensed in the
consolidated income statement.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group's business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are two
measurement categories in which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

o Amortised cost: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest are measured
at amortised cost. Interest income from
these financial assets is included in
finance income using the effective interest
rate method. Any gain or loss arising
on derecognition is recognised directly
in consolidated income statement and
presented in other operating expenses, net
together with foreign exchange gains and
losses. Impairment losses are presented
as separate line item in the consolidated
income statement.

° FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria
for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured
at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt instrument
that is subsequently measured at FVPL is
recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which it arises.
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2. Summary of Principal Accounting Policies

(Continued)
2.11 Financial assets (Continued)

(iv)

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis
the expected credit losses (“ECL") associated
with its debt instruments carried at amortised
cost. The impairment methodology applied
depends on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk.

Impairment on these financial assets is
measured as either 12-month ECL or lifetime
ECL, depending on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. If a significant increase in credit
risk of a receivable has occurred since initial
recognition, then impairment is measured as
lifetime ECL.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9,
which requires ECL to be recognised from initial
recognition of the receivables. See note 3.1(iii) for
further details.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting
an event of default for internal credit risk
management purposes as historical experience
indicates that the Group may not receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full if the
financial instrument that meets any of the
following criteria.

(i)  information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the
debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking
into account any collaterals held by the
Group); or

(i)  there is a breach of financial covenants by
the counterparty.

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group
considers that default has occurred when a
financial asset is more than 90 days past due
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2. Summary of Principal Accounting Policies

(Continued)
2.11 Financial assets (Continued)

(iv)

Impairment (Continued)

Assessment of significant increase in credit
risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a
financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort. In
particular, the following information is taken into
account in the assessment:

o the debtor’s failure to make payments of
principal or interest on the due dates;

° an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument’s
external or internal credit rating (if available);

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor; and

o actual or expected changes in the
technological, market, economic or legal
environment that have or may have a
significant adverse effect on the debtor’s
ability to meet its obligation to the Group.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition when
contractual payments are more than 30 days
past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Group
assumes that the credit risk on a financial
instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the financial instrument is
determined to have low credit risk at the reporting
date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RAEPBRRMECE)

For the year ended 31st December 2023
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2. Summary of Principal Accounting

Policies (Continued)

2.11 Financial assets (Continued)

(iv) Impairment (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial asset

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial
asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial
asset is credit-impaired include observable data
about the following events:

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or

a breach of contract, such as a default or

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic
or contractual reasons relating to the
borrower'’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that
the lender(s) would not otherwise consider.

it is becoming probable that the borrower

will enter bankruptcy or other financial

the disappearance of an active market for
that financial asset because of financial

(a)

the borrower.
(b)

past due event.
(c)
(d)

reorganisation.
(e)

difficulties.
(f)

the purchase or origination of a financial
asset at a deep discount that reflects the
incurred credit losses.

2.12 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the consolidated statement
of financial position where the Group currently has
a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised
amounts, and there is an intention to settle on a
net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. The Group has also entered into
arrangements that do not meet the criteria for offsetting
but still allow for the related amounts to be set off
in certain circumstances, such as bankruptcy or the
termination of a contract.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31st December 2023
HE—F-_=—F+-_A=+1—HIFE

2. Summary of Principal Accounting Policies 2. FESHBEHBE(E)
(Continued)
2.13 Derivative financial instruments

213 TEESRMT A

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on
the date a derivative contract is entered into and are
subsequently remeasured at their fair value at the
end of each reporting period. Assets and liabilities are
classified as current if expected to be settled within 12
months; otherwise, they are classified as non-current.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
the derivatives are presented in the profit or loss within
other operating expenses, net in the period in which
they arise.

2.14 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs are assigned to individual items
on the first-in, first-out basis and are arrived at as
follows:

(i) Raw materials purchased for use in the
manufacturing process — invoiced price and
shipping cost.

(i)~ Work in progress and finished manufactured
goods — costs of direct materials, direct labour
and an appropriate proportion of production
overheads.

(i) Finished goods purchased for resale — invoiced
price and shipping cost.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less applicable variable
selling expenses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31st December 2023
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2. Summary of Principal Accounting Policies

(Continued)

2.15 Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
merchandise sold in the ordinary course of business. If
collection of trade and other receivables is expected in
one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the
business if longer), they are classified as current assets.
If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially
at the amount of consideration that is unconditional
unless they contain significant financing components,
when they are recognised at fair value. The Group holds
the trade receivables with the objective to collect the
contractual cash flows and therefore measure them
subsequently at amortised cost using effective interest
method. See note 18 for further information about
the Group’s accounting for trade receivables and note
2.11(iv) for a description of the Group's impairment

policies.

2.16 Cash and cash equivalents
In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and deposits
held at call with financial institutions that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and
bank overdrafts with original maturities of three months

or less.

2.17 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

2.18 Trade and other payables
Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary course
of business from suppliers. Trade and other payables
are classified as current liabilities if payment is due
within one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle
of the business if longer). If not, they are presented as

non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31st December 2023
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2. Summary of Principal Accounting Policies 2. FESHBEHBE(E)
(Continued)

2.19 Borrowings 2.19 &R

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value,
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference
between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and
the redemption value is recognised in the consolidated
income statement over the period of the borrowings
using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the
extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility
will be drawn down. The fee is deferred until the draw
down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that
it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for
liquidity services and amortised over the period of the
facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement
of the liability for at least twelve months after the
reporting period.

General and specific borrowing costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of a qualifying asset are capitalised during
the period of time that is required to complete and
prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. Qualifying
assets are assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use or
sale.

Other borrowing costs are expensed in the financial
period in which they are incurred.

2.20 Employee benefits

(i) Employee leave entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave and long
service leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave and long service leave as
a result of services rendered by employees up to
the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and
maternity leave are not recognised until the time
of leave.
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2. Summary of Principal Accounting Policies

(Continued)
2.20 Employee benefits (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Bonus plans

The expected cost of bonus payment is
recognised as a liability and an expense when
the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of services rendered
by employees and a reliable estimate of the
obligation can be made. Liabilities for bonus plan
are expected to be settled within twelve months
and are measured at the amounts expected to be
paid when they are settled.

Retirement benefit costs
The Group operates several defined contribution
schemes.

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan
under which the Group pays fixed contributions
into a separate entity. The Group has no legal
or constructive obligations to pay further
contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient
assets to pay all employees the benefits relating
to employee service in the current and prior
periods.

For Hong Kong employees, the Group contributes
to Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF") scheme in
accordance with Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance. Contributions to
the MPF scheme by the Group and employees
are calculated as a percentage of employees’
remuneration received. The Group’s contributions
to MPF scheme are expensed as incurred. The
assets of the MPF scheme are held separately
from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund.

For employees in the PRC and Vietnam, the
Group contributes to a defined contribution
retirement scheme managed by the local
municipal government in the PRC and Vietnam.
The Group's contributions to the retirement
scheme are expensed as incurred while the local
municipal government in the PRC and Vietnam
undertakes to assume that the retirement benefit
obligations of the qualified employees in the PRC
and Vietnam.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2. Summary of Principal Accounting Policies

(Continued)

2.21 Taxation
The income tax expense or credit for the period is the
tax payable on the current period’s taxable income
based on the applicable income tax rate for each
jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets
and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and
to unused tax losses.

(a)

(b)

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period
in the countries where the Company and its
subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions
taken in tax returns with respect to situations
in which applicable tax regulation is subject
to interpretation and considers whether it is
probable that a taxation authority will accept an
uncertain tax treatment. The Group measures
its tax balances either based on the most likely
amount or the expected value, depending on
which method provides a better prediction of the
resolution of the uncertainty.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts in the consolidated
financial statements. However, deferred income
tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
other than a business combination that at the
time of the transaction affects neither accounting
nor taxable profit or loss and does not give
rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of reporting
period and are expected to apply when the related
deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.

The deferred tax liability in relation to investment
property that is measured at fair value is
determined assuming the property will be
recovered entirely through sale.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be
available to utilise those temporary differences
and losses.
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2. Summary of Principal Accounting Policies

(Continued)

2.21 Taxation (Continued)
(b) Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not
recognised for temporary differences between
the carrying amount and tax bases of investments
in foreign operations where the company is
able to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable

future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets and liabilities and where the
deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation
authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are
offset where the entity has a legally enforceable
right to offset and intend either to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability

simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in
consolidated income statement except to the
extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

2.22 Provision

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of
past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources
will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable
estimate of the amount can be made. Provisions are not

recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement
is determined by considering the class of obligations as
a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood
of an outflow with respect to any one item included in

the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
management’'s best estimate of the expenditures
required to settle the obligation present at the end
of the reporting period. The discount rate used to
determine the present value is a pre-tax rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the liability. The
increase in the provision due to passage of time is

recognised as interest expense.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2. Summary of Principal Accounting Policies

(Continued)
2.23 Revenue recognition

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when control of the
products has transferred to the customers at
a point in time, being when the products are
delivered to the customer, the customer has full
discretion over the channel and price to sell the
products, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that
could affect the customer’s acceptance of the
products. Delivery occurs when the products have
been shipped to the specified location, the risks
of obsolescence and loss have been transferred
to the customer, and either the customer has
accepted the products in accordance with the
sales contract, the acceptance provisions have
lapsed, or the Group has objective evidence that
all criteria for acceptance have been satisfied.
A receivable is recognised when the goods are
delivered as this is the point in time that the
consideration is unconditional because only the
passage of time is required before the payment is
due.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time
proportion basis using the effective interest
method.

Operating lease rental income
Operating lease rental income is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

2.24 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and the Group will comply with
all attached conditions. When the grant relates to an
expense item, it is recognised as income over the years
necessary to match the grant on a systematic basis to
the costs that it is intended to compensate.
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3. Financial Risk Management

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk and
price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's
overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's
financial performance.

Management regularly manages the financial risks of
the Group.

(i)

Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates internationally and is exposed
to foreign currency risk arising from various
currency exposures, primarily with respect to
Renminbi (“RMB"), Vietnamese Dong (“VND")
and United States Dollar (“US$"). Foreign
exchange risk arises from future commercial
transactions, recognised assets and liabilities and
net investments in foreign operations. In addition,
the conversion of RMB and VND are subject to
the rules and regulations of foreign exchange
control promulgated by the PRC monetary
authority and Vietnam government respectively.

To manage the foreign exchange risk arising from
future commercial transactions and recognised
assets and liabilities, the Group enters into
foreign exchange forward contracts with external
financial institutions.

Should RMB strengthened/weakened by 5%
(2022: 5%) during the year ended 31st December
2023 against the HKS$, with all other variables held
constant, the impact of the profit after taxation
for the year would have been HK$615,000 (2022:
HK$432,000) lower/higher, mainly as a result of
foreign exchange losses/gains on translation of
RMB denominated receivables and payables.

Should VND strengthened/weakened by 5%
(2022: 5%) during the year ended 31st December
2023 against the HKS$, with all other variables held
constant, the impact of the profit after taxation
for the year would have been HK$123,000 (2022:
HK$649,000) lower/higher, mainly as a result of
foreign exchange losses/gains on translation of
VND denominated receivables and payables.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
Foreign exchange risk (Continued)
Certain of the assets of the Group are
denominated in US$ but the foreign exchange risk
is considered not significant as HK$ is pegged to

(i)

(i)

USS$.

The foreign exchange risk on financial assets and
liabilities denominated in currencies other than
RMB, VND and US$ are insignificant to the Group.

Price risk

The Group is exposed to fluctuations in the
market price of major raw materials such as
copper rods and chemicals to make plastic resins
and market price of investments in listed equity
securities which are classified as financial assets
at FVPL.

(a)

(b)

Price risk from raw materials

The Group is able to pass certain realised
price gains and losses on raw materials
to certain customers through price
adjustments, which can mitigate the price
risk. The Group has not used any derivative
instruments to hedge such economic
exposures.

Price risk from financial assets at FVPL

The directors of the Company manage the
exposure by closely monitoring the portfolio
of these financial instruments. The fair
value of these financial instruments will
be affected either positively or negatively,
amongst others, by the changes in the
closing market prices of the relevant listed
equity securities.

Should the market price of the respective
investments in financial assets at FVPL
had been 10% higher/lower as at 31st
December 2023, the impact of the profit
after taxation for the year would have been
HK$771,000 higher/lower, as a result of
the changes in fair value of investments in
financial assets at FVPL.
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3. Financial Risk Management (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(iii)

Credit risk

Credit risk arises from trade and bills receivables,
other receivables, financial assets at FVPL,
favourable derivative financial instrument and
deposits placed with banks.

Risk management
Credit risk is managed on a group basis.

For the financial assets at FVPL, favourable
financial derivatives and deposits placed
with banks and a financial institution, only
independently rated parties with acceptable rating
quality are accepted.

Risk control assesses the credit quality of
the customer, taking into account its financial
position, past experience and other factors.
Individual risk limits are set based on internal or
external ratings in accordance with limits set by
the Group. The compliance with credit limits by
customers is regularly monitored by the Group.

The Group has policies in place to ensure sales are
made to customers with appropriate credit terms
and the Group performs periodic credit check with
reference to credit rating performed by external
agents.

At 31st December 2023, the Group had a
concentration of credit risk as 37% (2022: 35%)
and 81% (2022: 69%) of the total gross trade

receivables was due from the Group’s largest
debtor and the five largest debtors respectively.

The Group has four types of financial assets that
are subject to the expected credit loss model:

° Bills receivables

° Cash at banks

° Trade receivables

o Other financial assets at amortised cost
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3. Financial Risk Management (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(iii)

Credit risk (Continued)

Cash at banks and bills receivables

As at 31st December 2023, bank deposits are
mainly deposited with reputable banks in the PRC,
Vietnam and Hong Kong and bills receivables
are issued by a reputable bank in the PRC. The
credit quality of cash at banks and bills receivables
has been assessed by reference to external
credit ratings or to historical information about
the counterparty default rates. The existing
counterparties do not have default in the past.
Therefore, the expected credit loss rates of cash
at banks and bills receivables are assessed to be
close to zero and no provision was made as at
31st December 2023 and 2022.

Trade receivables

The Group applies a simplified approach in
calculating ECL for trade receivables and
recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime
ECL at each reporting date.

To measure the ECL, trade receivables have been
grouped by invoice date and based on shared
credit risk characteristics.

The expected loss rates are based on the
payment profiles of sales over a period of 12
months before 31st December 2023 and the
corresponding historical credit losses experienced
within this period. The historical loss rates
are adjusted to reflect current and forward-
looking information on macroeconomic factors
affecting the ability of the customers to settle the
receivables.
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For the year ended 31st December 2023
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For the year ended 31st December 2023

S

3. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 3.
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(iii)

SE+=AS+—AILFEE

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)
On that basis, the loss allowance of trade
receivables as at 31st December 2023 and 2022

was determined as follows:

(iii)

BEEREE (&)
3.1 M¥EREEE)

EER(E)

B EWE (&)

REEE  WZE-_=FK-F
——HF+-A=+—BWB5E
WHEEEREETOT ¢

By invoice date

REEAHES
Over
0-3 months 4-6 months 6 months Total
0-318A 4687 HiB6MEA et
31st December 2023 —E-Z=F
+=A=+—-H
Credit-impaired BEEERE NoR NoR No#
Expected loss rate BHEER 0.1% 1.3% 100.0%
Gross carrying amount — RELE-Z5EK
trade receivables (HK$'000) ZE(THT) 58,720 8,868 153 67,741
Loss allowance (HK$'000) EEREE(TET) 47 113 153 313
31st December 2022 —E-F
+-A=+—H
Credit-impaired BEEERE No No 7~ No
Expected loss rate TBHESIE R 0.1% 0.5% 65.4%
Gross carrying amount — REAE-ESEKR
trade receivables (HK$'000)  FIE(TH7T) 44,392 6,368 456 51,216
Loss allowance (HK$'000) BiEEE(TET) 23 32 298 353
The Group does not hold any collateral over trade R-_ZE—_=F+—-_HA=+—H -
receivables as at 31st December 2023 (2022: nil). REBWERE FEMFIEZ A
Ry (- = —4F : &) -
As at 31st December 2023, the Group R-ZTBE-_=F+=-HA=+—H -
recognised loss allowance of HK$313,000 NEBERE S EWHIAN EE
(2022: HK$353,000) on the trade receivables. B 5313,0008 L (= E = —F
The movement in the loss allowance for trade 353,0007T) ° B 5 FE WA K &S
receivables is summarised below. EERESEMNT -
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
At beginning of year REA] 353 10,358
Net decrease in loss allowance B EREIBE M Z R
recognised (41) (11)
Provision written off as R AEZ BT[] T i BE A 1 4
uncollectible - (9,991)
Exchange adjustment b 5 R B 1 (3)
At end of year RER 313 353
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 3.

(iii)

(iv)

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

Trade receivables are written off where there is
no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators
that there is no reasonable expectation of
recovery include, amongst others, the failure of
a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the
group.

Impairment losses on trade receivables are
presented as net impairment losses within
operating profit. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited
against the same line item.

Other financial assets at amortised cost
Other financial assets at amortised cost are
considered to be low credit risk primarily because
historically they had no history of default and
the debtors had a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near
term. Therefore, as at 31st December 2023 and
2022, the directors of the Company were of the
opinion that no provision for loss allowance was
necessary.

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies
maintaining sufficient cash and making available
and adequate amount of committed credit
facilities with staggered maturities to reduce
refinancing risk in any year and to fund working
capital, debt servicing, dividend payments, new
investments and close out market positions
if required. The Group maintains significant
flexibility to respond to opportunities and events
by ensuring that committed credit lines are
available. As at 31st December 2023, the Group
had available trade and loan finance facilities of
HK$56,300,000 (2022: HK$135,040,000) of which
none (2022: HK$22,775,000) was utilised.

AR B B R MY RE (AR

For the year ended 31st December 2023
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3. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 3. EI#EMREE (&)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BRREE(E)
(iv) Liquidity risk (Continued) (iv)] REEEER(E)
The table below analyses the Group's financial TERIMAEENSRARE @ &
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based FRAAREMEIHAER] - BIBERWRE
on the remaining period at the end of the reporting HIRZEA L5 E A O RIgrHAR
period to the contractual maturity date. The ToHT - ERABENSBAES
amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual FIERBFIRIBERE - ARALIR
undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within HFETK B E1218 A N E
12 months equal their carrying balances as the HAR ISR ERRERE -
impact of discounting is not significant.
On demand or Between
within 1 year 1to 2 years
BERSL—FR —EWE
HK$'000 HK$'000
T T
At 31st December 2023 N-EBE=-=F
+t=A=+-—-A
Trade payables B S B3R 17,006 -
Other payables HAbFETFIR 4,884 -
Lease liabilities HEa% 462 47
Derivative financial instruments #74&£ @ T A 410 -
At 31st December 2022 N-—E-__—F
+t=A=+-R
Trade payables = AN 11,684 -
Other payables HAb BT FIR 5,060 -
Lease liabilities HEaRFE 77 -
Borrowings B 22,775 =
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For the year ended 31st December 2023
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ﬂ?fﬂ%@?ﬁ%iﬂ(%)
32 EEKRE

3. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 3.
3.2 Capital risk management

The primary objective of the Group's capital
management is to safeguard the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern, maintain a strong credit
rating and a healthy capital ratio to support the business
and to enhance shareholder value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and business strategies. To maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the
dividend payments to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce
debts. The Group's capital management objectives,
policies or processes were unchanged during the years
ended 31st December 2023 and 2022.

Except for the compliance of certain financial covenants
for maintaining the Group’s banking facilities and
borrowings, the Group is not subject to any externally
imposed capital requirements. The Group complied
with the financial covenants attached to banking
facilities and borrowings as at 31st December 2023 and
2022.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing
ratio. This ratio is calculated by dividing total borrowings
to total equity.

The gearing ratios at 31st December 2023 and 2022
were as follows:

$EI§A”EWIEEFEﬁ%$E
BRESE BN RIFNEEFEMNE
RHEBEDLE  AXFBEEBREF K
REE-

EEIRAEEA N R TSRS 2 B B)E
BHEARRERE  WHEELRAE - A%
FABREALEE  NEERREAEMR
FEERA 2 AR E ~ AR EREE A B
ﬁﬁkfiﬁﬁééuﬁéﬁﬁ A&
ENESEEERE  BREKEFREZR
TR EFR TR F+ A=+ —
BILFEHEES)

MR ST A TSR A S AR EE /R
1TRVE MMEFR - AN B W & ]I ED
BN ESBTERH - REBRR=-F
—=ER-—E-——&#+—B=+—QH&
SPERTTRLE M A5 FRETHT B B 753255 o

REE RN BERLL REREEAN - it
RIRRBETIRIARERE -

RZE_=ZFk_F-_—_F+=A4
=+ HRERLEERAT ¢

2023 2022

—E-=HF T F

HK$°000 HK$'000

FExT T

(Restated)

(#eE5)

Total borrowings AE= - 22,775
Total equity farEss 409,524 404,170
ERE=R 0% 5.6%

Gearing ratio
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3. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets
and liabilities including cash and cash equivalents,
trade and bills receivables, other receivables and
deposits, financial assets at FVPL, derivative financial
instruments, trade payables, other payables and
accruals, lease liabilities and borrowings approximate to
their fair values due to their short-term maturities. The
fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes
is estimated by discounting the future contractual cash
flows at the current market interest rate that is available
to the Group for similar financial instruments, unless

the discounting effect is insignificant.

See note 16 for disclosure of the investment properties,
note 19 for disclosure of the financial assets at
FVPL and note 20 for disclosure of the derivative
financial instruments that are measured at fair value
and classified by level of the following fair value
measurement hierarchy at 31st December 2023 and

2022:

1) Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for

identical assets or liabilities (Level 1).

2) Inputs other than quoted prices included within
level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that

is, derived from prices) (Level 2).

3) Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based
on observable market data (that is, unobservable

inputs) (Level 3).

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active
markets is based on quoted market prices at the end
of reporting date. The quoted market price used for
financial assets and liabilities is the current bid price.

These instruments are included in Level 1.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not
traded in an active market is determined by using
valuation techniques. These valuation techniques
maximise the use of observable market data where
it is available and rely as little as possible on entity
specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to
fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument

is included in Level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on
observable market data, the instrument is included in

Level 3.
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Critical Accounting Estimates and

Judgements

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are discussed below.

4.1

4.2

4.3

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several
jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in
determining the worldwide provision for taxation.
There are many transactions and calculations for which
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. The Group recognises
liabilities for anticipated taxes based on estimates of
whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts
that were initially recorded, such differences will impact
the current tax and deferred tax provisions in the period
in which such determination is made.

Estimated fair value of investment
properties

The fair value of investment properties is determined
at the end of each reporting period by independent
professional qualified valuer. The fair values of
investment properties in Hong Kong and the PRC are
determined on the combination of income and market
approach and income approach respectively. Details of
the key assumption and inputs used in estimating the
fair value of investment properties are set out in note
16(f) to the consolidated financial statements.

Loss allowance for ECL

The Group makes loss allowance for ECL of trade
receivables based on assumptions about risk of default
and expected loss rate. The Group uses judgement in
making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to
the impairment calculation, based on the Group's past
history, existing market conditions as well as forward
looking estimates at the end of each reporting period.
Details of key assumption and inputs used in estimating
ECL are set out in note 3.1(iii) to the consolidated
financial statements.
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BMENRARED BIAWES K T I5EH)
AR EETE - ARNGEREY R
DA ERRERRSR L ABIR ZFIRE
MR B BTSRRI 16(f) ©

43 BAHEEBRZEERE
AEBREABENRR KBHEIEER
MRRHE 5 UGB TR E BB
TEHEREE - NERBIFLZERER
PRI ERT F B ABURE - RIBAS
BB ERCE  REREMRNBETHR
K ATHENE T E R HIE - BRXEETAS
EEEENERER B ARERZFE
R A M IS IRRMIEES. (i) ©
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For the year ended 31st December 2023
BE T _=F1+_H=+—HIFE

4. Critical Accounting Estimates and
Judgements (Continued)

4.4

4.5

4.6

Allowance for inventories

Significant judgement is exercised in the assessment
of the net realisable value of its inventory, which is
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course
of business, less estimated costs of completion
and selling expenses. In making its judgement,
management considers a wide range of factors such
as the age of the inventory items and the assessment
of the results of the subsequent sales performance of
the items. Management reassesses the provision at the
end of the reporting period.

Estimated useful lives of property, plant
and equipment

The Group’s management determines the estimated
useful lives and related depreciation charges for its
property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based
on the historical experience of the actual useful lives
of the property, plant and equipment of similar nature
and functions. It could change significantly as a result
of technical innovations. Management will increase the
depreciation charge where useful lives are less than
previously estimated lives, or it will write off or write
down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that
have been abandoned or sold.

Impairment of the land and buildings

In determining whether the land and buildings
are impaired or the event previously causing the
impairment no longer exists, the directors have to
assess whether an event has occurred that may affect
the land and buildings’ value or such event affecting
the land and buildings’ value has not been in existence.
If any such indication exists, the recoverable amounts
of the land and buildings would be determined by
reference to value in use and fair value less costs
of disposal. Value in use is determined using the
discounted cash flow method. Owing to inherent
risk associated with estimations in the timing and
magnitude of the future cash flows and fair value less
costs of disposal, the estimated recoverable amount of
the asset may be different from its actual recoverable
amount and profit or loss could be affected by accuracy
of the estimations.

4. BRSTHhE R AE (&)

4.4

4.5

4.6

FERE

RiHEEE Z IR IHERAEHER
HiE DA B R R P R (A AT EER AR
SEARACAR M SHE ST H - VB FIERE
EEEEREZAE  WFEHE 2R
R RHBEBRBERERANRE T
fly - BEEERHREHRERNFERE

MEE - BERREZMAEETAE
R

AEBEEEEENE  BERRELZ
At A E A F A RARITERX o tth
AANERHABRUME RINE LD
X BEERBZERAERFHE
SRAEER - AIRERIIR AT R M B A B A
B o BIRERIEINITER - i Al (ER
FHER ZRIE2FH - SASMEEs
MREREHHE 2B HIFREE

Eo

+ it RARF RVRE

REE L KRBT R ERIE ST ATEE
RMENSEHEETBFER - ESA
HRAHRENEFELHNETHNE
BErEMRFET M RETEBENED
EMRETHFE - WiFEEA B
R T REFHRIRE SR/ EE
REBEIRARBERHEXNAETE © £H
BEDEBFTARERELETE - ER
BEFFARRRERER DA BEREEK
A HERIEEARMNE SRR - BE
B EET AT U Bl SRR T BE A I B A]
Y Ol & 88 I 38 51 AT BE X (At HOEREME 52
2 .
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For the year ended 31st December 2023
HE—F-_=—F+-_A=+1—HIFE

Revenue and Segment Information 5. WHKoEBEFR
The Group is principally engaged in the manufacturing AREBFTELKERENEETEENERER
and trading of electric cable and wire products. Revenue R FRFERZWESINT ¢
recognised during the year is as follows:
2023 2022
—E-=F —E_F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
Sale of goods - at a point in time HE—AEXE (AR 303,527 324,524
The Chief Executive Officer (the chief operation decision TS (EREEARE((aREEERR
maker (“CODM") has reviewed the Group's internal reporting E ) EHEASBARNHRE MEEEERN
and determines that there are six reportable segments, %%?Fuu%f“—l—@?ﬁ%fiﬁfﬂihﬂﬁ/dl%ﬁi
based on location of customers under the electric cable DH ll%i?/fémq:‘. EM - #m - B
and wire products business, including Hong Kong, the &H@.% M%ﬁjﬁ.ﬂ % K& B #R A BIR
PRC, America, Vietnam, Japan and other countries. These Hib D mBLoHERE -
segments are managed separately as each segment is
subject to risks and returns that are different from others.
The segment information for the reportable segments for %%Z_E&_giiiiﬁz%ﬁ%ﬂﬁ@’ DEPE
2023 and 2022 is as follows: BT
Revenue Total
(external Segment segment Capital
sales) results assets expenditure Depreciation
6
(SMEREEE) DEEE BOWEE EXHX e
2023 2023 2023 2023 2023
ZECIZ=HF ZEI=F —EC=F - S 3 ZECZF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET AT TAET FTHET TER
Hong Kong B 26,331 3,762 62,992 822 2,122
The PRC I 37,370 2,484 98,148 2,465 3,740
America e 212,293 10,107 106,016 7 2
Vietnam Wi 125 24 96,572 971 4113
Japan HK 24,375 3,716 1,879 - -
Other countries HipBIxR 3,033 587 859 - -
Reportable segment &5 DA 303,527 20,680 366,466 4,265 9,977
Unallocated costs APBEEH (2,379)*

Operating profit eyl 18,301

21



92

Perennial International Limited 1E#B£ AR A &)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31st December 2023

BE—F-_=—FF+-_A=+—HIFE

5. Revenue and Segment Information 5. WHERAPEE (&)

(Continued)
Revenue Total
(external Segment segment Capital
sales) results assets  expenditure  Depreciation
Urzs
(SMEPSHE) NEEE  BHHEE BRI e
2022 2022 2022 2022 2022
—E-—F —E-—F —E-—F —E-—F —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET FAET THIT THT
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(fE7) (#25=51) (&E5)
Hong Kong B 41,157 6,785 44,738 537 2,262
The PRC H 56,788 7,162 165,355 762 5,417
America EQ 188,541 8,157 100,975 - 2
Vietnam fifes] 226 20 100,378 374 4,432
Japan HA 35,560 2,308 1,094 - -
Other countries HiER 2,252 196 554 - -
Reportable segment  ¥R&EHEF 324,524 24,628 413,094 1,673 12,113
Unallocated costs APBEEH (2,156)*
Operating profit R 22,472

*

Unallocated costs represent corporate expenses.

*

AOBEMIERRFEX
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Revenue and Segment Information
(Continued)

A reconciliation of total segment assets to the Group's total
assets:

AR B B R MY RE (AR

For the year ended 31st December 2023
BE-—_F-_=—F+-_A=+—HIFE

2023 2022

—E-= T F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHExT FHET

(Restated)

($&E5))

Total segment assets O EE 366,466 413,094
Investment properties AW 80,644 47,154
Deferred tax assets REFIBEE 7,742 7,080
Total assets BEE 454,852 467,328

Revenue of HK$186,485,000 (2022: HK$167,458,000) are
derived from two (2022: two) major customers contributing
10% or more of the total revenue. These revenues are
attributable to the America segment (2022: America
segment).

W 25 mw%mm%n(_g:;

%)Eﬁ%ﬁ((ﬁﬁ@ﬂﬁzmm%‘}zut) Eiii

W REEMNDBB(—F=——4F : EMZE) °

2023 2022

—ECZ=HF B

HK$'000 HK$'000

FE T T

Customer A ZEA 107,914 91,015
Customer B ZFB 78,571 76,443
186,485 167,458
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For the year ended 31st December 2023
BE T _=F1+_H=+—HIFE

6. Other Income 6. Hiblsm
2023 2022
—E-=F —E_—

HK$°000 HK$'000
FET T
Scrap sales FERI Y& 1,990 3,207
Interest income FEUWA 444 31

Rental income from investment REREDMEZHETRA
properties 2,554 1,545
Government subsidies (note) BRAT AR (MaE) 5 1,298
Freight cost recharged to customers WWH B &P 2 &iER K 4,096 3,123
Sundry income A 778 55
9,867 9,259

Note:

During the year ended 31st December 2023, no subsidy (2022:
HK$804,000) is received from the Government of Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region in relation to the “Employee
Support Scheme”. There were no unfulfilled conditions or other
contingencies attaching in these government subsidies.

Mt

BE-_ZT-_=F+-"A=1+—HItEE  WEBSE
PSR BT IR [ R T B A5 B8 [ R B 2 |5t 8180 #e Bh
(ZZF=—1F : 804,000/&7T) ° %= BHT A0
ISR BT T A Bk L Bk SR =R TH ©

7. Other Operating Expenses, Net 7. HIKEHZFE
2023 2022
—EC=F - S
HK$°000 HK$'000
FExT FET
(Restated)
(geE=7)
Impairment loss of property, ME - WE KR EREEE
plant and equipment 5,192 5,708
Loss on revaluation of investment &Y EEEL
properties 5,634 407
Charitable donations zE1EE 1,774 1,194
Net losses/(gains) on derivative TSI AFESE, (W)
financial instruments 2,819 (81)
Net losses arising from changes BAREF ARSI IEEE
in fair value of financial assets Z AR EEE
at FVPL mEE 2 FEE 76 -
Net exchange gain SN W E (2,362) (4,356)
Net losses/(gains) on disposal/ e MEEYE - BE &
write-off of property, RiEFEE ()
plant and equipment 154 (5)
Other expenses HiEx 1,399 1,705
14,686 4 572
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8. Operating Profit

This is stated after charging:
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For the year ended 31st December 2023
BE_FE_=—F+_H=+—HIFE

8. RERA
KA THIEER 25

(a)

For the years ended 31st December 2023 and 2022,
Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated in accordance with
the two-tiered profits tax regime. Under the two-tiered
profits tax regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of
qualifying corporations will be taxed at 8.25% (2022:
8.25%), and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at
16.5% (2022: 16.5%).

2023 2022
—E-=F —ET=-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FH&TT
(Restated)
(#&E5))
Depreciation of property, plant and  #1% - [RE K EBEITE
equipment 9,977 12,113
Auditor’s remuneration % EREM B <
— Audit services — = RE 968 1,100
— Non-audit services — IEFA RIS 125 632
Cost of inventories (note 17) GERA(HeF17) 151,691 170,192
Lease payments for short-term and SHEINREKEBERENHEENK
low-value leases 35 46
Direct expenses for investment KEMEZ BERY
properties 253 111
Provision for slow-moving ESEE B (M aE17)
inventories (note 17) 5,312 2,511
Staff costs (including directors’ BIXAN(BRESHE)
emoluments) (note 13) (B17£13) 74,894 79,570
9. Finance Costs 9. BIKEH
2023 2022
—E=HF T F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEZFE 17 8
Interest on bank borrowings IRITERZFE 672 1,952
689 1,960
10. Taxation 10. Fi1E

@ HE—_ZTZ-_=FN"ZFT-_—F+-8
=+—HIEFE - BEFEH IR
HREHHEFTE o ERAFEHH
EHET @ @B FEAE2,000,000
BT A 5 1R8.25% (= FE = — 4
8.25% )T EBF - 2,000,000/ 7T
LA FEYSR R A5 1216.6% (= F = — 4 :
16.5% )BT =BT o
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For the year ended 31st December 2023
BE T _=F1+_H=+—HIFE

10. Taxation (Continued)

(a)

(Continued)

Taxation on overseas profits has been calculated on
the estimated assessable profits for the year at the
applicable rates of taxation prevailing in the jurisdictions
in which the Group operates.

US corporation is subject to two level of taxes.
Corporation is taxed on its earnings, and when the
corporate earnings are distributed to the shareholders
as dividend, the shareholders need to pay tax on the
dividend received. Corporate income tax is imposed
at the federal and state level on all entities treated
as corporation. The federal corporate tax rate is 21%
(2022: 21 %) while the state corporate tax rate is varied
by states.

The Enterprise Income Tax of the PRC is provided
at 25% (2022: 25%) based on the assessable profits
for the year less allowable losses brought forward, if
applicable. Two (2022: Two) of the Group’s subsidiaries
registered in the PRC are recognised as small and
low profit enterprise which have been granted tax
concession by the local tax bureau and are entitled to
the PRC Enterprise Income Tax at concessionary rate
of 5% (2022: 2.5% for the first RMB1 million of the
estimated assessable profits, and 5% for the remaining
estimated assessable profits) of the estimated
assessable profits for the year.

The subsidiaries established and operated in Vietham
were subject to corporate income tax at a rate of 20%
(2022: 20%). In accordance with the applicable tax
regulations, a subsidiary is subject to a lower tax rate
of 10% for fifteen consecutive years, commencing
from the first year of making revenue. In addition, the
subsidiary is entitled to full exemption from corporate
income tax for the first four years from the earlier of (i)
the year when profit is generated for the first time or (ii)
the fourth year of making revenue; and a 50% reduction
in corporate income tax for the next nine years, which
is offered by the Vietnam government and is stipulated
in the subsidiary’s investment license. Perennial Cable
(Vietnam) Co., Ltd. is subjected to a lower tax rate of
10% and 50% reduction in corporate income tax for
nine years starting from the financial year ended 31st
December 2023 (2022: full exemption from corporate
income tax starting from the financial year ended 31st
December 2019).

10. BiE ()

(a)

()

BN T BURE RIS 5 R
S5 422 S AT T ) AR K0T
HRARETE -

KB RRFHEARR - RAIBLEEF
B BEXRBMNESKED KT
R BORBIAC BB B - RS
RAHI PR B R IRE H S B E e
KSR  BMAEEMRERR/2N%(—F
ZCF 21%) 0 MINEEBERMN G
m -

FR B 1b 3 ATIS AR T AR AU B SR A Va7
TR AS R (B R ) 1525% (= F
T4 26% )ETIR o RSB AR
MeEARE(=E=—F - HmE) B
NEVERT B/ MIEMEE T B
HBEER  AFEEEZEFRLE
ISR BRI E « (AT R r
R A% (ZE=——4F : jtEARE]
B & T G 5T HE R m T = 5 2.5% i)

FRIB5%)

RBEKRZEEENHEBARER
20% ( —F = —4F : 20% ) VT KRB
TEMER - BIBERBIEER - W8
NRABEARGEFREE T AFIR
BRI E10% T - wod  BOEER
MEF  KEERZEHFENEFE(ZER
BEEAE)BHEEFA  ZMBAT
BHEZEENREBMEENSEH  WRE
BNERNZE0%DERESHBR
THEBERAS T WiIRZHE R A
KIS & 7T A B PRI AR ° Perennial Cable
(Vietnam) Co., Ltd. BEHZE T =4
T A=+—HUEYVBRFERNLEAZ
B10% HBIEFE X 2 50% K 1> ¥ FTi5
BRR(ZE-——F: HEZ_F—N
F+—H=1—HIFS K FERELE
BRI R ©
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For the year ended 31st December 2023
HE—F-_=—F+-_A=+1—HIFE

10. HiE (&)

(a)

The amount of taxation charged to the consolidated

income statement represents:

(#)

RiFE W am R IR 2 B -

2023 2022
—EC-=F S
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
(Restated)
(g&&E5)
Hong Kong Profits Tax HAEFEH 730 107
Overseas taxation GINELIE 2,165 2,297
(Over)/Under-provision in BEEFE(BRERE),
prior years BETR (8) 485
Deferred tax relating to FRERE=EEAN
the origination and reversal of Bl 2 BEFRIB (M 10(b))
temporary differences (note 10(b)) (1,021) (887)
1,866 2,002

The taxation on the Group's profit before taxation
differs from the theoretical amount that would arise

NS B 5 RARR R B A1) 2 R 0 L R AR R
RAEBFEHEMFTE 2 BwmiisEe =

using the profits tax rate of Hong Kong as follows: BN
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-_F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THT
(Restated)
(Fg&:7)
Profit before taxation Rk A5 BT S 1) 17,612 20,512
Calculated at a taxation rate of B R165%( —F = —4F :

16.5% (2022: 16.5%) 76.5%)%%2%%15 2,906 3,384
Effect of different taxation rates TR ER 2 2 (2,139) (2,140)
Income not subject to taxation BERELZ WA (680) (108)
Expenses not deductible for DR 2 F

taxation purposes 1,451 593
(Over)/Under-provision in prior years @1t E (FREEEHE)

BETE (8) 485
Utilisation of previously FALERIARERZ

unrecognised deferred tax assets  IRIEFIIBEE (17) (235)
Tax losses for which no deferred RIERELEIHIBEEZ

tax assets were recognised B5Ea 353 23
Total tax charge for the year FRNFIBS 4R 1,866 2,002
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BE-—_FT-_=—F+-_A=+—HIFE

10. Taxation (Continued)

10. BB (&)

(b)  The movements of deferred tax (assets)/liabilities b) REEHBRAREROELERBCE
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial E)/aEgsuT
position are as follows:
Tax Provision
depreciation and others Tax losses Total
BERE BEREM REBE B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT AT TET THT
At 1st January 2023 (Restated) PN =ZE-=F—HA—H
(45 &%) 7,320 (5,148) (2,765) (593)
(Credited)/Charged to the GtA) /s B4z
consolidated income statement ~ SUEK (613) (1,749) 1,341 (1,021)
Exchange adjustment fE 5 A (13) 48 19 54
At 31st December 2023 RZE_=F
+Z-A=1+—H 6,694 (6,849) (1,405) (1,560)
At 1st January 2022 (Restated) ~ HZZE__F—H—H
(#&E7) 8,183 (4,476) (3,645) 62
(Credited)/Charged to the GGtA) /K Ba%k
consolidated income statement AR (725) (937) 775 (887)
Exchange adjustment [ 5 (138) 265 105 232
At 31st December 2022 (Restated) P —ZE =
+-RB=1t—R(#&&5) 7,320 (5,148) (2,765) (593)

Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of financial
position is as follows:

AR RN T

2023 2022

—E-=F —E-F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET T

(Restated)

(1&E5))

Deferred tax assets EEFIBE 7,742 7,080
Deferred tax liabilities FERIB A E (6,182) (6,487)
1,560 593
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

10. Taxation (Continued)

(b)

(Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax loss carry-
forwards to the extent that the realisation of the related
tax benefit through future taxable profits is probable.
The Group did not recognise deferred tax assets of
HK$2,121,000 (2022: HK$489,000) in respect of losses
amounting to HK$9,489,000 (2022: HK$2,948,000) that
can be carried forward against future taxable income.
As at 31st December 2023, tax losses for which no
deferred tax assets were recognised amounting to
HK$6,535,000 (2022: HK$32,000) will expire in 5
years, and the remaining tax losses of HK$2,954,000
(2022: HK$2,916,000) do not expire under current tax
legislation.

Deferred tax liabilities of HK$93,682,000 (2022:
HK$78,974,000) have not been recognised for the
withholding tax and other taxes that would be payable
on the unremitted earnings of certain subsidiaries
amounted to HK$9,368,000 (2022: HK$7,897,000) at
31st December 2023. In the opinion of the directors,
these unremitted earnings, at the present time, are
required for financing the continuing operations of
these subsidiaries and no distribution would be made
in the foreseeable future. Accordingly, no provisions for
additional deferred taxation have been made.

11. Earnings Per Share

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on
the Group's profit for the year of HK$15,746,000 (2022
(Restated): HK$18,510,000) divided by the weighted average
number of 198,958,000 (2022: 198,958,000) ordinary shares
in issue during the year.

During the years ended 31st December 2023 and 2022,
diluted earnings per share is the same as basic earnings per
share due to the absence of dilutive potential ordinary shares
during the reporting period.

AR B B R MY RE (AR

For the year ended 31st December 2023
HE—F-_=—F+-_A=+1—HIFE

10. BiE ()

(b) ()
HAHEBIERRARELHES
ENHE RREARATEEENR
REFRF A MEROBBHET R
ﬁﬁﬁ&*ﬂozﬁ‘ﬁliﬂﬂ%ﬁ‘f & a2 I
IR 2R SR A Uk 2% 1Y [E518.9,489,000 78 7T
(ZZF =4 : 2,948,000 ) HERIE
ERIBEBEE?2,121,0008T(ZFE ==
fﬁ 489,00087L) - NM—_E-_=F+—

=+—H K KXHERECHBEEEZ
Wxﬁéﬂae 535,000/8L( —F = —4F :
32,0000 ) R AFERNEIE ﬁ%Tm
5 E5182,954,0008 70 ( — & — — 4 :
2,916,000/ 7T ) IR IER T E T2
/B;qo

AEBYRBEETHBRATANR-Z
=+ =-_A=+— aa@ﬂe@m
£ 7 9,368,0008 T (= F = =

7,897,000, 7T ) H & ﬁTﬁi?Dm&ﬁ@ﬁ
TH e 3R 4R JE F¢ IE B 15 93,682,000 7T
—E— —4F : 78974,0008T) - BE
RE - ZERELBANEARERES
ZEMBRARINBELERHES
A BRGNS EH DR o Bt » I

E LR INEIE R A E B o

1. BRER

B EAKRZEF TR B A & B A F E S F
15,746,000 8 o (= FE = —F (& &E3l) :
18510,000,& 7L ) R AFNEBETTE B Z
N #E S ¥ £7 198,958,000 0% ( = F = — 4
198,958,000% )5+ &

HE_Z_=FK_ZT_—F+_A=+—
BIEFE  ARBREEMTEEEHELE
f% - B EEE R B R EARRF R o
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For the year ended 31st December 2023
BE-—_FT-_=—F+-_A=+—HIFE

12. Dividends 12. RE
A final dividend of HK$0.03 (2022: HK$0.02) per ordinary RERNEIERRNEBEZE T - —F+=
share, amounting to a total dividend of HK$5,969,000 (2022: A= —RHA(=&F=-——%#: :%5:*$+:
HK$3,979,000) that relates to the year ended 31st December H=1+—H) L FERABENREREGRY
2022 (2022: 31st December 2021) was approved and paid EIR0.03BIL(ZE=——F : 0. 02@73) $H
during the year. B R 48 A% 25,969,000 T ( —F = =
3,979,000;&T) °
The directors does not recommend the payment of a final EEfEERE e E-_=F+-_A=+—
dividend for the year ended 31st December 2023. BIEFERERBRSE -
13. Staff Costs (Including Directors’ 13. EIXX(EBIRESEHE)
Emoluments)
2023 2022
—EC-=HF T F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Wages, salaries and fringe benefits & - H R EEINERL 69,267 72,972
Social security costs HERERAR 3,794 4,783
Pension costs — contribution to RIRAA — AR E ST EIEL <
MPF scheme T 426 430
Others Efb 1,407 1,385
74,894 79,570
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For the year ended 31st December 2023
HE—F-_=—F+-_A=+1—HIFE

14. Benefits and Interests of Directors and 14. EER T ECTEAE2EFIR

Key Management s

(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EEEEN
Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of person’s ENHERRARSHENBARZESIE
services as a director or other services in connection HEMESIEERERORBKE AT
with the management of the affairs, whether of the < s EFEWEN S S5 T -
Company or its subsidiary undertaking are set out
below:

Contributions

Discretionary to MPF Other
Name of directors Fees Salaries bonuses scheme benefits (iv) Total
wEd HEibEF

EEHE ok e MiERS BE S (iv) kel

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$"000

THEx TR TER TR TR TR
For the year ended
31st December 2023
Bz-3-=%
+ZA=t-HLEE

MON Chung Hung (i) - 5,260 1,316 - 722 7,298
IR ()
KOO Di An, Louise (i) - 1,530 343 - 634 2,507
B % (i)
SIU Yuk Shing, Marco (v) - 192 5 - - 197
EERKV)
MON Wai Ki, Vicky - 367 31 18 19 435
hEH
MON Tiffany - 1,275 191 18 19 1,503
RER
MON Derek - 725 46 18 19 808
RER
Chan Chun Yiu (v) - 522 58 14 - 594
BRIRE(v)
LAU Chun Kay (iii) 180 - - - - 180
SRR
LEE Chung Nai, Jones {iii) 84 - - - - 84
ZRE i)
CHUNG Kit Ying {iii) 120 - - - - 120
SR (i)

384 9,871 1,990 68 1,413 13,726
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RAEPBRRMECE)

For the year ended 31st December 2023
BE T _=F1+_H=+—HIFE

14. Benefits and Interests of Directors and

14. EERFTEEBABZEIR

Key Management (Continued) R (E)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) (a) EE=HM(E)
Contributions
Discretionary to MPF Other
Name of directors Fees Salaries bonuses scheme benefits (iv) Total
®iEE Hit g w
e e e b5 SRR (iv) it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TR TET TET FET FHL
For the year ended
31st December 2022
BE-E_C
TZA=+-HLEE
MON Chung Hung (i) - 4,560 805 - 309 5,674
EIREE()
KOO Di An, Louise (ii) - 1,320 110 - 361 1,791
)
SIU Yuk Shing, Marco - 672 56 18 512 1,258
SIER
MON Wai Ki, Vicky - 355 30 18 - 403
hER
MON Tiffany - 1,080 90 18 278 1,466
RER
MON Derek - 474 36 18 170 698
RER
LAU Chun Kay {iii) 180 - - - - 180
BIRE i)
LEE Chung Nai, Jones {iii) 84 - - - - 84
ZRE i)
CHUNG Kit Ying (iii) 120 - - - - 120
R (i)
384 8,461 1,127 72 1,630 11,674
(i) Chief Executive Officer (i) TsEE
(ii) Non-executive director (i) EHITES

(i) Independent non-executive directors

(iv)  Other benefits include commission and insurance

premium.

(v) Mr. SIU Yuk Shing, Marco resigned as executive director
on 22nd March 2023 and Mr. CHAN Chun Yiu was

appointed as executive director on 22nd March 2023.

During the year, no emolument paid or receivable in
respect of a person accepting office as a director (2022:
nil) and no director waived any emoluments (2022: nil)
or compensation for loss of office (2022: nil).

(i) WIIFMTES

(iv) EEFNSEEERSRARER -

(v) BEBREENR-_ZT-_=F=A—+—
ABERITE SR - MRIRRLE
R-EBE-_=F=F=-+-BEZEEA
WITES ©

RENEEEIEEL AR EWEE,
WG (— T ——F : #)IARREAE
EHREWS (=T = —F ;)R
MHE( T =—F ) o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

14. Benefits and Interests of Directors and
Key Management (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Directors’ retirement benefits
None of the directors received or will receive any
retirement benefits during the year (2022: nil).

Directors’ termination benefits
None of the directors received or will receive any
termination benefits during the year (2022: nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

During the year ended 31st December 2023, the Group
did not pay consideration to any third parties for making
available directors’ services (2022: nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans
and other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

During the year ended 31st December 2023, there is
no loans, quasi-loans and other dealing arrangements
in favour of the directors, or controlled body corporates
and connected entities of such directors (2022: nil).

Directors’ material interests in
transactions, arrangements or contracts
No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts
in relation to the Company’s business to which the
Company was a party and in which a director of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year (2022: nil).

AR B B R MY RE (AR

For the year ended 31st December 2023

BE—F-_=F+-A=+—HIFE

14. EERFTEEBABZEIR

R ()

(b) EEMENKER
FA - BEESEE R ERRREF
(ZF=—F &)

(c) ESMARLER

(d)

(e)

(f)

ER - BEEECWSEWRIEESR
RN (ZFE=——F : &) -

MIBEMHEEREMOE=S1E
HERE
HE-_Z_=F+-A=+—HI*F
g AEBEIEERE R RS
FZFRRE(E=——F - &) -

MEE - TZEEEEHE
ABRBRZESHNBEESHIE
HHWER  EERMEMRS
HE R
BE-_ZT-_=F+-_A=+—HL*F
B MENES B IEHEER
FEERASHEAZER  EEZSH
WL SR (—E=—4F : f£) -

BEEAERS  THIAEGHNWE
KiER
SEGEARRESMARBERET
—HEBEARRBBEREF (TimEER
M ) A = AR RS (R FE RS FE AT
BRETFENEARS THEREH(=
T E) e
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AW EWmERM (&)

For the year ended 31st December 2023
BE T _=F1+_H=+—HIFE

14. Benefits and Interests of Directors and

Key Management (Continued)

(g) Five highest paid individuals
In 2023, the five individuals whose emoluments were
the highest in the Group included three (2022: four)
directors whose emoluments are reflected in the
analysis presented above. The emoluments payable to
the remaining two (2022: one) non-director individuals
(note) during the year are as follows:

14. EERTEEBAEBZEIR

R (E)

(g) EEEEHFMAL
N_EBE_=F  AEAEEZSEHMA
TORB=R(—E——F U5 )EE
ZREBEEZHEEN EX 25T -
ENENFEBRE(—E=——F : —
Z)IEEEAL(BIEE)REBT

2023 2022
—EC-=HF —E-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FBT T
Basic salaries, other allowances HEAHH& - iR

and benefits in kind B = 1,873 1,198
Discretionary bonuses [l p~a 262 22

Pension costs — contributions to RIRAKA — e 2D
MPF scheme 2R 32 18
2,167 1,238

The emoluments fell within the following bands: e BRATEE :

Number of individuals

AEEHE
2023 2022
—E-=F T 4F
Nil - HK$1,000,000 Z%1,000,0007 7T 1 =
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 L&
1,500,000/ 7T 1 1

Note: Included in the remuneration of the highest paid non-
director individuals was the remuneration paid to Mr.
SIU Yuk Shing, Marco, an executive director of the
Company who resigned on 22nd March 2023 but
remained as an employee of the Group for the period
from 23rd March 2023 to 31st December 2023.

Hret -

SR MAEESEANBE 2IEE
RMFARBRITESREK K 2 B
& FR_TE-_=F=A_+_H#
B WE-—ZE-—=F=A-t+=RB%
—E_=F+_A=+—HH[HEMNA
AEEZES o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

14. Benefits and Interests of Directors and

Key Management (Continued)

(h) Key management compensation
Key management includes all directors presented
above and four (2022: three) senior management (note).
The compensation paid or payable to key management
for employee services is shown below:

AR B B R MY RE (AR

For the year ended 31st December 2023
BE_FE_=—F+_H=+—HIFE

14. EERTEEBABZEIR
R (E)
(h) TESEAS S HM
FTEEBASAE FRAAESERMD
G —FE——F  =F)SHEEE
) e MEBEEABXNEAEER
BB S EMAEBT

2023 2022
—E-=F —E_—
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Basic salaries, other allowances EXFHE « Btz

and benefits in kind =S 14,429 13,042
Discretionary bonuses [l 2,276 1,228

Pension costs — contributions to RN — AR E S EIEL
MPF scheme 2R 126 126
16,831 14,396

The emoluments of senior management (excluding
directors) are within the following bands:

SRERE(TEREES) M BENIA
TEE

Number of individuals

AEHE
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—F
Nil - HK$1,000,000 Z%1,000,0005 7T 3 2
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/ L&
1,500,000/ 7T 1 1

Note: Included in the remuneration of the senior management
was the remuneration paid to Mr. SIU Yuk Shing, Marco
for the period from 23rd March 2023 to 31st December
2023 as disclosed in note 14(g) and Mr. CHAN Chun
Yiu for the period from 1st January 2022 to 21st March
2023 who was appointed as executive director of the
Company on 22nd March 2023.

BARERE e BIENE14(Q) BT
BENME —_T-_=F=A-_+=HZ%
—E =+ A=+—HEEXA
FEBKGCEARTE T _—F—
A—B&E-_ZT_=%¢=F_-+—HH
A FRIRREEZME - FRIRE
EERZT-_=F=A=-_+-_HEZ
EARARRITES -

Hret -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AW EWmERM (&)

For the year ended 31st December 2023
BE T _=F1+_H=+—HIFE

15. Property, Plant and Equipment

15. W% - MEKRE

Right-of-use
assets  Buildings  Leasehold  Plantand Funiture and Office Motor Pleasure  Construction
(note a) (notec) improvements  machinery fixtures  equipment vehicles hoats in progress Total
[ERREE gF
W) HE%E BERER GAREE  BOERE hE BE  ARIE g
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HKS'000
1ET ThT T Thn ThL T ThT ThL TE7 Thn
Net book value at Aok
1t January 2023 -A-AZEA
(Restateo) HE(EE]) B4 1289%0 362 11,586 kY] 2383 1919 2648 - 186569
Addition b 869 - - 3218 - 113 5 8 - 4983
Disposaslwiteoff & /Hf - - - (10) - (69) (324) - - (463)
Depreciation i (1,452) (3.424) (121) (2,855) (66) (530) (597) (326) - (9,977)
Trnsfer tonvestment ~ BATRENE
properties fnote 1506)  (¥iat156) (135 (31881) - - - - - - - [
Impairment loss i
note 15(e)) - (5,192) - - - - - - - (5,192)
Exchange adjustment (311) (1,730) (62) (151) - (13) 3 - - (2,264)
Net book valug at 2
3NstDecember 2023 +=A=F-H
R 26,899 86,703 283 11728 266 1,884 1776 2330 - 1A
At31st December 2023 W-F-=%
+2A=t-R
At cost A 45,700 129,988 17,886 91327 5,006 14,604 5337 14,429 - um
Accumulated depreciation Z:HTE (18,801) (43,285) (15,083) (79,599) (4,740) (12,720) (3,561) (12,099) - [189,858)
Net book value EHE 26,899 86,703 2833 11,728 266 1,884 1,776 2330 - 134419
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

AR B B R MY RE (AR

For the year ended 31st December 2023
HE—F-_=—F+-_A=+1—HIFE

15. Property, Plant and Equipment 15. ¥  BMERRHE (&)
(Continued)

Right-of-use
assets Buldings  Leasehold Plantand  Fumiture and Office Motor Pleasure  Construction
fnofec) improvements  machingry fixtures ~ equipment vehicles boats  inprogress Total

HERE  HRERME GRRRE  BOERE B BE  HRIE %
HKSOOD  HKSOD  HKSODD  HKSODD  HKSOO0  HKSOOD  HKSOMO  HKSODO  HKSOOO
S0 & /R v /R v 7R v R . P v 7/ R

Net book value at RoBoCE
15t January 2022 -f-Az
(Restated) FaFEwE) 3213 143,553 5,004 11,884 415 3018 1989 3140 8876 216,092
Addition e = - - 1,026 - 121 b1 - - 1673
Reclssiicationupon ~ TA(AEAE
complgtion - 6817 - 1871 - = = > (8,694) =
Disposalspwiteoff {1 /H# - - = (18] = (1 - - - (1)
Depreciation e (1,617) (4.469) (1,203) (2,991) (83) (710) (548) (492 = (12,113
Transfertoinvestment ~ BEZRENE
properties 71) (4 560) - = = = = - - (4,637)
Impaiment loss HERE - (5,708 = = - - - - - 5108
Exchange adjustment ~ E¥ 58 (1.370) (6,703) (179) (194 - (1) (@) - (182 8722
Net book value at RZBZZE2R
3NstDecember 2022 =1z
Restated EERESE) B9 8% 360 115 Ko 298 1919 2648 - 1859
At31stDecember 2022 A-F-=E1=f
(Restated) =1-H(#z7)
At cost A 55,200 17710M 18,104 95,560 5,046 14980 1815 14421 - 388,142
Accumulated depreciation 23T ERHEELR
and impairment losses (20,056) (48,081) (14.482) (83,974) [6.714) 12,597) (5,8%) (11,773) - {057
Net book valug RHE 35,149 128930 3622 11,586 33 2383 1919 2,648 - 186,569
The gross carrying amount of the Group's property, plant REENYE  BMEMRENRBDRAESE
and equipment includes an amount of HK$16,351,000 (2022: BB ERNEERNYE  HE LK
HK$15,049,000) in respect of fully depreciated property, plant %16,351,000/8 70 ( =& = _—4F : 15,049,000

and equipment that is still in use. JBIL) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BB RARNE(E)

For the year ended 31st December 2023
BE-—_FT-_=—F+-_A=+—HIFE

15. Property, Plant and Equipment 15. ¥  BMERSRHE(E)

(Continued)
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) FEHEEE
Leasehold Land use Leased
land in rights in property in
Hong Kong overseas Hong Kong Total
UREEH I REING NREEH
HELH T fERE HEME wmm
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET
Net book value RZE-=F—-f—HZ

at 1st January 2023 (Restated)  BREE(E (& Z7)) 11,348 23,689 12 35,149
Addition NE - - 869 869
Depreciation & (463) (551) (438) (1,452)
Transfer to investment properties R ZREME (H1:115())

(note 15(e)) - (7,356) - (7,356)
Exchange adjustment I R - (311) - (311)
Net book value R-Z-=%F+_H

at 31st December 2023 =t+—HZEEFE 10,885 15,471 543 26,899
At 31st December 2023 R-Z-= ﬁ‘l‘ A

+
At cost N 21,885 22,946 869 45,700
Accumulated depreciation ZEiE (11,000) (7,475) (326) (18,801)
Net book value REEE 10,885 15,471 543 26,899
Leasehold Land use Leased
land in rights in property in
Hong Kong overseas Hong Kong Total
IR B RIAGING @E’\\\%\%\E’\]
HELH THfP R HEME FEkS
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT FBIL FEL FAET
Net book value R-ZE-_—#—f—RA2

at Ist January 2022 (Restated)  FREF{E(HZ7)) 11,811 25,840 562 38,213
Depreciation e (463) (704) (450) (1,617)
Transfer to investment properties EEZIREYE - (77) - (77)
Exchange adjustment B 54, 28 - (1,370) - (1,370)
Net book value at R-ZE-_—F+_H

31st December 2022 (Restated) =+—BZE@EEE

(45 &51)) 11,348 23,689 112 35,149
At 31st December 2022 (Restated) R=E = —F+_A

=+—R(#Z5))
At cost A 21,885 32,421 899 55,205
Accumulated depreciation e (10,537) (8,732) (787) (20,056)

Net book value REFE 11,348 23,689 112 35,149
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

15. Property, Plant and Equipment

(Continued)

(b) Leases
This note provides information for leases where the
Group is a lessee.

()  Amounts recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position

The consolidated statement of financial position

AR B B R MY RE (AR

For the year ended 31st December 2023
BE_FE_=—F+_H=+—HIFE

15. W% - MEKFRE(R)

(b) #HE
AW IR G A B A AR A SRR
BERS o

(i)  REEMBEIRRKRTRERNSER

FEMBIRRERATERE

shows the following amounts relating to leases: B SR

2023 2022
—EC-=F —E-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FAET
(Restated)
(4 E2)

Right-of-use assets EREEE
— Leasehold land in Hong Kong ~ —fIAEBHFEE i 10,885 11,348
— Land use rights in overseas — (LRI T {5 PR A 15,471 23,689
— Leased property in Hong Kong — — i AE A FH &2 543 112
26,899 35,149

Lease liabilities HESRE

— Current —BDER 454 77
— Non-current —JERNHR 47 -

501 77
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BB RARNE(E)

For the year ended 31st December 2023
BE-—_FT-_=—F+-_A=+—HIFE

15. Property, Plant and Equipment 15. ¥  BMERSRHE(E)

(Continued)

(b) Leases (Continued) (b) ?ﬂh(.ﬁ)
RiralamRkPERN SRR

(i) Amounts recognised in the consolidated income
statement

The consolidated income statement shows the

mEWRRBRIATEEERH

following amounts relating to leases: KSR
2023 2022
—E-=HF —=EF-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FATT
(Restated)
(JeE5))
Depreciation of FREESENE
right-of-use assets
— Leasehold land in Hong Kong ~ —fIREEHHEE b 463 463
- Land use rights in overseas — L PAVEHN L Hb {5 R A 551 704
— Leased property in Hong Kong  — IR &SR E Y% 438 450
1,452 1,617
Interest expenses FNEMX(GFAMKER)
(included in finance costs) 17 8
Expenses relating to short-term EHHERKEEHEEN
leases and low-value leases HEEER X (FFATER )
(included in administrative
expenses) 35 46

The total cash payments for leases during the year
ended 31st December 2023 was HK$497,000
(2022: HK$500,000).

HE=—_Z-_=F+-_A=+—H

IFFEE - AEx
/497,00078 7T (
500,000/7T) °

e B
—E - —fF
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

15. Property, Plant and Equipment
(Continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

At 31st December 2023, no leasehold land and office
located in Hong Kong (2022 (Restated): net carrying
amount of leasehold land and office located in Hong
Kong of HK$17,009,000) were pledged as security for
the Group's bank borrowings.

Included in the total depreciation expenses, amounting
to HK$7,304,000 (2022 (Restated): HK$9,620,000) and
HK$2,673,000 (2022 (Restated): HK$2,493,000) were
charged to cost of sales and administrative expenses,
respectively.

During the year ended 31st December 2023, the Group
has entered into a lease arrangement for renting all
the buildings (the “Properties”) located in Heyuan
city, the PRC, to a third party. The Group has engaged
an independent professional qualified valuer, Ascent
Partners Valuation Service Limited (“Ascent Partners”),
to determine the fair value of the Properties at the
date of change in use. In view of the fair value of
the Properties was lower than its carrying amount at
the date of change, a provision for impairment loss
of HK$5,192,000 was recognised and respective
buildings and right-of-use assets of HK$31,881,000
and HK$7,356,000 respectively were transferred to
investment properties at the date of change. The
valuation of the Properties at the date of change was
determined using the income approach. The most
significant input into this valuation approach was unit
rent which is ranging from RMB8.0 to RMB15.0 per
square metre.

AR B B R MY RE (AR

For the year ended 31st December 2023

BE—F-_=F+-A=+—HIFE

15. W% - MEKFRE(R)

(c)

(d)

(e)

RZBE-_=F+—-A=+—H  {EMN
REBNHELHMERAST( T - =
F(HEES) - (URBBHFAE 11 ]
RNZEZBREFEE A17,009,000/% 7T ){E
BAEEIRITERZER

REIFTERZH - 7,304,000 (=
T —IF(#FEF) : 9,620,000, ) M
2,673,000 0( —F = —F (4 E3) :
2,493,000, 7T) 7 BT ASHERK A RTT
BRAX -

BHE_ZE_=F+-_A=+—HL*F
B AEBERITHEELZE - BT
BmREmMESEF([ZEWE]) LHE
FE=H  AEECZEBUYHEES
évﬁﬁﬁiﬂﬁﬁm@ﬁ@ Al
FHEDETZEMERNE AE B
WQA@ ERZEYHEZ AREERR
ERchEHE 2 BRMEE - BRRIEE
1B H#55,192,000/8 7T © WS HEREAE ST
NEREEED R A31,881,000/8 7T &
7,356,000/ T i BN B4 H BB B B 15 &
VI o SZEWERINE B H 2 (BB TR
RWEAEE - WHER EREZREH
A ABMAS - NTREFTRA
R#8.0tE AR 15.07T °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RAEPBRRMECE)

For the year ended 31st December 2023
BE T _=F1+_H=+—HIFE

16. Investment Properties

16. REWME

2023 2022
—E-=F —E_—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
At fair value BARE
At 1st January n—H—H 47,154 43,100
Transfer from property, plant and EEOYE - BENMERE
equipment (note (e)) (Hizt(e) 39,237 4,637
Revaluation loss (included in other BHBEAGIARMEE
operating expenses, net) S F%8) (5,634) (407)
Exchange adjustment b (113) 176)
At 31st December N+=—HBA=+—H 80,644 47,154

(a)

The details of (i) rental income and (ii) direct operating
expenses from the investment properties and (iii)
minimum lease payments receivables on lease of
investment properties are set out in notes 6, 8 and 27(b)
to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

As at 31st December 2023, no investment properties
(2022: net carrying amount of investment properties
of HK$26,600,000) were pledge as security for the
Group's bank borrowings.

As at 31st December 2023 and 2022, the Group has no
unprovided contractual obligations for future repairs and
maintenance.

The Group's investment properties are held within
a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in
the investment properties through sale. The Group has
measured the deferred tax relating to the temporary
differences of these investment properties using the
tax rate and the tax bases that are consistent with the
expected manner of recovery of these investment
properties.

(a)

(c)

(d)

FESWA - (I1IZREREMENEEZL
LY RiiVHEEREMERKY
RIEBRENTFBD BHY 4G M TETR
=MIEE6 ~ 8%27(b) °

R-ZT_=Ff+-_A=+—8  UE
REWE(ZFT_—F: KEFEA
26,600,000/ TTHIR A YK ) EAERA
SERITEFZER o

RZE_=ZFk_F_—_F+=A1
=+—8 AEETELEBEBEERR
BEEBZARTIREHNET -

AR EER AN LN SEBA
i 15 0 50 MR B A B 0/
FRI2E o AR EEMEIR AN LT
B R — BB BB - M
18 A K EE I A B IR
EATHE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

AR B B R MY RE (AR

For the year ended 31st December 2023
HE—F-_=—F+-_A=+1—HIFE

16. Investment Properties (Continued) 16. REYE(E)

(e) The Group's investment properties are held under long (e) K’%IE‘]&E%%LAEE@%H SR
lease. As at 31st December 2023, their locations and —E-=F+-A=+—08 EMIEE
existing use are as follows: BERZRNOT .

Location Existing Use by lessee
ith B EEAREARE
Concordia Plaza, No. 1 Science Museum Road, Hong Kong Office

BARI B RRAES WAE

Hing Yip Centre, No. 31 Hing Yip Street, Hong Kong
EEFEMI1GREEEA L

Office and car-parking space

PWAEREAL

Lot Nos 03-07, Hu Die Ling Industrial Park, Heyuan City, the PRC* Education
Fh B A R T ) i 28 T 2 030730 52 HE

On 31st August 2022, the Group has entered into a
rental agreement (“2022 rental agreement”) with &
BREERREHEIER ("BEXRmE") for renting certain
building of the investment property in the Heyuan. Upon
the signing of the 2022 rental agreement, the Group
has changed the usage of that property and reclassified
building and right-of-use assets of HK$4,560,000
and HK$77,000 respectively from property, plant and
equipment to investment properties for the year ended
31st December 2022. On 28th March 2023, the Group
has entered into a new rental agreement with XS
% (2023 rental agreement”), which superseded the
2022 rental agreement, for renting all the buildings of
the investment property in Heyuan. Upon the signing
of the 2023 rental agreement, the Group has changed
the usage of the remaining properties and reclassified
buildings and right-of-use assets of HK$31,881,000 and
HK$7,356,000 respectively from property, plant and
equipment to investment properties for the year ended
31st December 2023.

R-ZE-_—FN\A=+—8 ' ~&E
MR REEARZEEIER(ERR
Z ) pHENRTRNEENEZE
¥§$ﬂiﬂf%%ﬂ:2::¢ﬁ
Ezl) c RBET—E-_—_FHEW
EAL $%IEE&§%%M%@’
WREE—ZT-_—F+=-_A=+—H
LIEFE #8555l & £4,560,0007%8 7T &
77,0008 THEFRFEREEER
Y% - BERBBEENDERIREY
¥ -RZZE-=F=A=-+/\H:' XK
EBRBAEMTRAIEEMEZFT
BEFEEAREILHNEERH#
([Z===—=FHEW:x]) - ﬁawﬁ
—E_FHERE -  RES =

—=FHEHEE $%IEE&%
TYUENRERZR  TREZE-F ==
FH+_A=+—BLEFEBI B
31,881,0007% 7t & 7,356,000 7% 7T &)
BFEREAEEERDE  BEKIK

BENDBRRREM -
(f)  The following table analyses the investment properties fH  THRIEFBHEREMOTEALBA
carried at fair value, by valuation techniques. BRHNIG B WS o
Fair value measurements
at 31st December 2023
ZB-=H+-A=+—8H
FERUTBABBHAAEBETE
Description i Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
F—R a1 E=R
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000
T8 T BT BT
Recurring fair value LS AR ERE
measurement
- Investment properties — &M - - 80,644
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RAEPBRRMECE)

For the year ended 31st December 2023

S

SE+=AS+—AILFEE

16. Investment Properties (Continued)

(f)

16. REWHE (&)

(Continued) f  (8&)
Fair value measurements
at 31st December 2022
R F+=ZA=+—H
FARNUTRASENALERZ
Description At Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
E— FE-H F=M
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT &I T
Recurring fair value KEHENREASE
measurement
- Investment properties — &M - - 47,154

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfer into and
transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels as of the date
of the event or change in circumstances that caused the
transfers.

Fair value hierarchy

During the years ended 31st December 2023 and 2022,
there were no transfers between Level 1 and 2 fair
value measurements and no transfers into and out of
Level 3 fair value measurements.

As one or more of the significant inputs is not based on
observable market date, the investment properties are
included in Level 3 fair value measurement.

Valuation processes of the Group

The Group's investment properties were valued at 31st
December 2023 and 2022 by independent professional
qualified valuer who holds recognised relevant
professional qualifications and has recent experience
in the locations and segments of the investment
properties valued. For all investment properties, their
current use equates to the highest and best use.

The Group's finance department considered and
discussed the valuations performed by the independent
professional qualified valuer for financial reporting
purposes, including all key inputs to the valuations
and property valuations movements as compared to
the prior year. The fair values of the properties have
been determined by Ascent Partners Valuation Service
Limited for both years.

e S s
S8 8 EBERYALN LA EE

NAREEH

BE_ T _=FRr-_F-_—F+_-A4
=t+—HItEE  F—HEFE-_HNA
ExtE2 2B EEE  IEE=H 4
Bzt E8AREL -

B — B S AEABALIFRABTE
RMHHIE - WRENIIIAE=RA
AMEEE -

AEBWEERE

A 2 RE WD AR
%ﬁﬂ&ﬂﬁ@&é%%Z%Em%
R AR EER I BIEES
ARGEMR T _=FR-_F=—%F
= A=+ —BRTEE - RAEIRE
MEMmS - HAARSRARE RS
LR -

RNEFNPIEIE B LB EES
BB ERD L TSRS R AT TE
B BESHENEEZHASERL
YEGERBEFEEELNED - %%
MEMEFENA R ERATES
BRARETE °
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16. Investment Properties (Continued)

(f)

(Continued)

Quantitative information of the significant
unobservable inputs and description of
valuation techniques used in Level 3 fair
value measurement

The quantitative information of the significant
unobservable input and description of valuation
techniques used in Level 3 fair value measurement,
including the description of the sensitivity to changes
in unobservable inputs for recurring Level 3 fair value
measurements, are as follows:

AR B B R MY RE (AR

For the year ended 31st December 2023

BE—F-_=F+-A=+—HIFE

16. REME (&)

(f)

Fair value at Valuation

Description 31st December 2023 technique Unobservable inputs
RZBZ=E+ZA=+-H

it MARE fHERH TUREBARE

(/&)
F=ROAEERAZEKX
FTHEEGABE2ELLER
R fh{E T A

FE=RRAEAEMAZERTAER
WABUR 2 BCEM REETAHEL
(BREUREUEE=RAAEAEZD
AEBRBABBRE S 2 GURE )
-

Relationship unobservable
inputs to fair value

ATREE\HERLAENRE

Land and buildings, HK$37,200,000

Combination of income (1) Sales prices, range from HK$5,121

The higher the sales prices per square foot of comparable
properties in close proximity, the higher the fair value
(2022: the higher the sales prices per square foot of
comparable properties in close proximity, the higher
the fair value)

BETELENXNETHREEERER  ArEHR
(_%‘:_‘éf YHTERBNZ G TR ER

5 A1 EHE)

Hong Kong (2022: HK$42,900,0000  and market approach to HK$5,984 (2022: range
(2022: Market from HK$5,643 to HK$7,062)
approach) (note) per square foot of comparable

properties in close proximity
fInEE 37,200,000%7 bakmzidge () METELENEHEERRN TR

HREF (ZE-%: (Z8-%: SRR 121825 9845

42, 900,000%7) mfmf)(ﬂ/ff) (ZE=2F M FRG643%870
27062%7)

(2) Sales prices, range from HK$11,347
to HK$21,003 (2022: range
from HK$17,533 to HK$19,434)
per square foot of comparable
properties in close proximity

(2 BETELRNENHERRN TR
SFHR11,347BTLZE21,003
BR(ZE-_%: R
1753382194343 T0)

Land and buildings, HK$43 444,000 Income approach Unit rent range from RMB8.8 to

the PRC (2022: HK$4,254,000) (2022: income RMB12.0 (2022: range from RMBY.0
approach) to RMB10.0) per square metre

frdEls) 43, 444000%71 Wah(CE-—F 4 BUBENTRETAAARE

THEET i #1) 8STEARKI20L(ZE=%

4254 000/575) NERAREI OTZARE1007)

The higher the prevailing market rent, the higher the fair
value (2022: the higher the prevailing market rent, the
higher the fair value)

RmaReds  MAEER(CE
2HE 2 EHE)

il

Note: In addition to the market approach, the management
considered the valuation should also take into
account the value contributed by the existing tenancy
arrangement, therefore the combination of income and
market approach was adopted to determine the fair
value of the investment property as at 31st December
2023.

Hret - BRsESD

ERERRMGETES
BREHERHMEMNER - Bit

RAWEE R TS5 ERES EERE
MER-_Z_=F+_A=+—H0H
DffE
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AW EWmERM (&)

For the year ended 31st December 2023
BE T _=F1+_H=+—HIFE

17. Inventories 17. &
2023 2022
—E-=F —E_—
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET T
Raw materials R R 52,006 62,198
Work in progress Pl 13,937 13,379
Finished goods 2UPK oh 58,937 79,828
124,880 155,405
Less: Provision for inventories o TEE R (14,611) (9,299)
110,269 146,106
The cost of inventories recognised as an expense (included in RENERBAX (GEA THEKRK])WF
“cost of sales”) during the year was HK$151,691,000 (2022: B A151,691,0008 0 ( —F = —F -
HK$170,192,000), in respect of which HK$5,312,000 (2022: 170,192,000,&7C) * & + 5,312,000 T
HK$2,511,000) represents write down of inventories to net (ZF =4 : 2,5611,000/87T )15 ¥4 17 EMUR
realisable value. EREIRFEE -
18. Trade and Bills Receivables 18. ESEWFRERERERE
2023 2022
—EC-=HF B F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET &L
Up to 3 months BIHAZ= = (& A 58,720 44,392
4 — 6 months PU{E A 2= 7518 A 8,868 6,368
Over 6 months HBiE 7~ {E A 153 456
Trade receivables, gross (note (a)) B 5 W GRIBERE (Mt (a) 67,741 51,216
Less: Loss allowance W ESEEE (313) (3563)
Trade receivables, net B 5 e GRIA 5 67,428 50,863
Bills receivables e 1,626 1,296
69,054 52,159
(a) At 31st December 2023 and 2022, the aging analysis of @ NZEBE-_=FR-_FTE-_—_F+=AH4
gross trade receivables is based on invoice date. =1+—H  BZRBGIERTE KRR

HrRIR R B H(E o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

18. Trade and Bills Receivables (Continued)

(b) Trade and bills receivables are denominated in the

AR B B R MY RE (AR

For the year ended 31st December 2023
BE-—_F-_=—F+-_A=+—HIFE

18. EZBWKEARERRE(H)
(b) MU R A T 5 3t

following currencies: & :

2023 2022

—E-=F —EFT-_—
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAET
HKS BT 9,532 4,877
RMB AREE 4,604 7,634
Uss ETT 54,918 39,648
69,054 52,159

(c) Information about the Group’s exposure to credit risks
and loss allowance for trade receivables is included in
note 3.1(iii).

19. Financial Assets at FVPL

(0 BREAKEHENEERRNE SRR
FIRE IR AR R B BB RES A i)

19. RRAEFABSNTBEE

2023 2022
—E-=F —=EF_—
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FETT
Mandatorily measured at FVPL BEERAAE ABRTE
Equity securities, listed in Hong Kong W& B _EH ZRAE S 7,712 -

The fair value of listed equity securities is determined by
reference to the quoted market bid price available on the
Stock Exchange and these financial instruments are included
in Level 1 fair value measurement.

EHRABHZOAABTIZEBBMRMARF
MTSEAREMNETE  AZFERTARE
AABE—RAAEFE -
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VAN
%\T\D

MBHRRME(E)

For the year ended 31st December 2023
BE T _=F1+_H=+—HIFE

20.

Derivative Financial Instruments 0. fTE®®MIA

2023 2022
ot S 3 —Z-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET

Asset mandatorily measured at FVPL BERAAETABRNEE
Foreign exchange forward contracts HNEEAIA ) - 1,100

Liability mandatorily measured at FVPL 84|12 A R BT ABBENER
Foreign exchange forward contracts HNEREIE A 410 -

The Group has certain outstanding foreign exchange forward
contracts with external reputable banks with long positions
in RMB and VND (2022: RMB and VND) for hedging its
purchase transactions and operating expenses denominated
in RMB and VND (2022: RMB and VND). The fair value of the
foreign exchange forward contracts is determined by using
valuation techniques. The valuation techniques maximise the
use of observable market data where it is available and rely as
little as possible on entity specific estimates. As all significant
inputs regarded to fair value are observable, these financial
instruments are included in Level 2 fair value measurement.

The notional principal amounts of the outstanding foreign
exchange forward contracts at 31st December 2023 were
US$2,250,000 (2022: US$5,200,000) and matured within one
to three months (2022: one to ten months).

AEBEIMNBEBREFZBITAE T HARE
TZINEEHIEH - PRARBRBEE (=
F_—F: ARBERUEE) TR  AEHE
NAREREEE(—E-—F  ABERY
/8 ) FHERRIBER 5 MG E R  SNERE
BRZARETRA/RERMERE - AEK
MEENAABERMSEE®(ME)  FED
KEER CREMET - ARNBRAAAEBEZA
BERB O RAEERIE  AEZESR
TAFIAE-_RAREE -

R-ZE-_=%F+-A=+—B8 ' BXETZ
INERHAG X 2 B FEA LT A2,250,0003
TT(ZZ =4 : 5,200,000%T) ER—&E=
BR(ZZE=—=F: —Z+@EA )RNEIL -
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21. Cash and Cash Equivalents

AR B B R MY RE (AR

For the year ended 31st December 2023
BE_FE_=—F+_H=+—HIFE

21. BERBREEEY

2023 2022

—EC=F - S
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET THET
Cash at banks and in hand RITNEFRE 22,965 21,048
Short-term time deposits 52 HAE HATF 3K 16,043 =
39,008 21,048

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the
reporting period of the Group is cash at banks amounting to
HK$38,887,000 (2022: HK$20,895,000).

RBERER  REEBNRAEZEERRA
$R 1738 438,887,000/ T ( —E = —F :
20,895,000/ 7T) °

2023 2022
—EC=HF T F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAEIT

Denominated in: AT EEEHE -
HKS$ BIT 2,481 2,016
RMB ARE 19,209 6,132
US$ ETT 13,290 12,634
Other currencies H b & 4,028 266
39,008 21,048

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates.

Short-term time deposits are made between one month and
three months depending on the immediate cash requirement
of the Group, and earn interest at the prevailing short-term
deposit rates.

Included in the balance are cash deposited in banks in the
PRC and Vietnam of HK$4,979,000 and HK$6,308,000 (2022:
HK$5,146,000 and HK$528,000), respectively, which are
mainly denominated in RMB and VND and are subject to
the exchange control restrictions imposed by the PRC and
Vietnam governments.

RITRSREREHRITHERAXREZ B X
IRERA S, -

CHMERERZERPNF—EAZ=
A DRFAKENRREFTEME @ WK
= A2 HITE R SR SR 2, -

HREBEFHARF R EBRERITZIRETR
2 514,979,000 7% 7T %.6,308,000/8& 7T ( = =F
— —4F : 5,146,000/&7T }528,000;& L) © E
FEUARERBEEAEEENMITFRER
B K R U B e 2 INE B AR 7 o
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RAEPBRRMECE)

For the year ended 31st December 2023
BE T _=F1+_H=+—HIFE

22. Share Capital 22. B
No. of shares HK$'000
e T
Authorised EE
At 1st January 2022 and RZE-—F—A—BUK
31st December 2022 and 2023, —ECCFER-TE=F
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each +=—A=+—8"
BREAEC. 10 T2 B 500,000,000 50,000
Issued and fully paid ERTRARE
At 1st January 2022 and 31st R-ZE-_—F—A—HUK
December 2022 and 2023, TECFERIT=F
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each +=—A=1+—8"
FHLEEO. 1078 7T 2 & B 198,958,000 19,896
23. Trade and Other Payables 23. EG R HMENFIE
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-_F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
Trade payables (note (a)) B Z R FKIB (K (a) 17,006 11,684
Other payables and accruals HoAth fE A~ OE N s R S 17,979 17,622
Contract liabilities AHAE - 172
Total (note (b)) R (Mt b)) 34,985 29,478

Notes:

(a) At 31st December 2023 and 2022, the ageing analysis of trade

His -

(@ RZZEZ=FR=FT=_—F+=ZA=+—

payables based on invoice date is as follows: H - B S EMNRIERERESE A HEL 2 Rie
DT -

2023 2022
—E-=HF —E-_F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET BT
Up to 3 months BNEgZ= =@ A 16,306 10,937
4 — 6 months MEAZENEA 271 345
Over 6 months HBid7NE A 429 402
17,006 11,684
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23. Trade and Other Payables (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)  Trade and other payables are denominated in the following

AR B B R MY RE (AR

For the year ended 31st December 2023
BE_FE_=—F+_H=+—HIFE

23. EGREMEMNRER(E)

Hist : (&)

(o) BEREMENRIEBEATIEEE

currencies:
2023 2022
—EB-=H —T-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
HK$ BT 14,312 4,009
RMB ARHE 17,013 17,911
Uss$ xT 1,429 6,887
Other currencies Hi g 2,231 2,221
34,985 29,478
- =%
24. Borrowings 24. &R
2023 2022
—E-=F —E- 4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Trust receipt loans EFEIEER - 3,775
Bank loans IRITE - 19,000
Total borrowings RIS - 22,775
All borrowings as at 31st December 2022 were secured by MN-TB-—F+-F=+—8 ' 2ERH

certain land and buildings and investment properties of the
Group with a total carrying amount of HK$43,609,000 (notes
15 and 16) and were supported by limited guarantees given

by the Company and certain subsidiaries.

DA ZK £ 8 BR T 42 {8 A& 43,609,000 JTHI & T
T REFARIEE Y (MIE15%16) ER
1 WHARARRE THBR A RE
REHF -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

25. Financial Instruments by Category 25.

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been

applied to the line items below:

BERETHNEMTA

EMTAZEFBREEARN THIER -

At amortised cost At FVPL
BORMEFA
BB A B
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT THAT
At 31st December 2023 NR-B-=H+=A=+—H
Assets as per consolidated JNRGEMBRRRZERE
statement of financial position
Trade and bills receivables B FRMFIE R EREE 69,054 -
Financial assets at FVPL BAREABENTHKEE - 7,112
Other receivables and deposits* HipfRUGRIE RG] & 1,077 -
Cash and cash equivalents HeRBEEEN 39,008 -
109,139 7,712
Liabilities as per consolidated IRGEHERR Rk 2EE
statement of financial position
Trade payables B S ENFIA 17,006 -
Other payables** HApfERFR IE** 4,884 -
Lease liabilities HEAE 501 -
Derivative financial instruments TESRI A - 410
22,391 410
At 31st December 2022 (Restated) RZBE-—F+-R=+—H(#Z5/)
Assets as per consolidated statement of JR4GREBIFEARANRZEE
financial position
Trade and bills receivables B oW A R RS 52,1569 -
Derivative financial instruments PTHEERTA - 1,100
Other receivables and deposits* HibEW B eI & 2,244 -
Cash and cash equivalents ReENREEED 21,048 -
75,451 1,100
Liabilities as per consolidated statement 34 &SRR EKZBE
of financial position
Trade payables B SN 11,684 -
Other payables** Ei\’rIﬂJEHTAIE** 5,060 =
Lease liabilities HEAE 77 =
Borrowings B 22,775 -
39,596 -
3 excluded non-current deposits, prepayments and other tax < TEIEIEREE & « BN FIE K E A RIS E
receivables. 18 ©
* excluded contract liabilities, employee benefits payables, other *% TEIEANEE  EEEEHN - Sl

tax payables and provision.

iR N kA



Annual Report 2023 % | 23

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31st December 2023
BE_FE_=—F+_H=+—HIFE

26. Notes to the Consolidated Statement of 26. 2B & HhEXRMH:T

Cash Flows
(a) Cash generated from operations (a) BEELENERS
2023 2022
—E-=F g
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
(Restated)
(&)
Profit before taxation MR FL BT A 17,612 20,512
Interest income B A (444) (31)
Interest expenses FEAZ 689 1,960
Loss/(Gain) on disposal/write-off of & /i ME - KEL&E
property, plant and equipment mEE, (M) 154 (5)
Net loss arising from changes in fair Z AR BT AEBZRA
value of financial assets at FVPL I EERN AL EED)
EERFER 76 =
Loss on revaluation of investment & & ESEH1E%L
properties 5,634 407
Impairment loss of property, Y - BB MR ERERE
plant and equipment 5,192 5,708
Depreciation of property, plant M - ENEETE
and equipment 9,977 12,113
Reversal of impairment loss on B 5 W FE IR R A EE R
trade receivables (41) (11)
Provision for inventories FEBEE 5,312 2,511
Operating profit before working LIEE S H BRI 2 K
capital changes S Al 44,161 43,164
— Inventories —F8 28,635 4,355
— Trade and other receivables — &5 R E M EI R TE (16,587) 29,331
— Derivative financial instruments —TESRT A 1,510 (1,072)
— Trade and other payables — B 5 REAMERFRIA 5,507 (11,971)

Cash generated from operations SEEANIRS 63,226 63,807
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For the year ended 31st December 2023
BE T _=F1+_H=+—HIFE

26. Notes to the Consolidated Statement of
Cash Flows (Continued)

26. ZEHEREBRME(E)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) REZBHEEANEEETH
activities
Bank loans Trust receipt loans Lease liabilities
BITER EREBBER HEAE
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
Bz —E-— Bz T _C —BE-=f C—E_C
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THET TER FET TER THT
At 1st January »—A—H 19,000 60,000 3,775 14,372 77 B8]l
New lease g - - - - 869 =
Net cash flows RenEFE (19,000) (41,000) (3,775) (10,597) (445) (454)
At 31st December R+=-A=1—H - 19,000 - 3,775 501 77
(c) Major non-cash transaction (c) EEFRERS

During the year ended 31st December 2023, a non-
cash investing and financing activity relating to addition
of a right-of-use asset is disclosed in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements (2022: nil).

27. Commitments

(a) Capital commitments
At 31st December 2023, the Group did not have any
capital commitments (2022: nil).
(b) Commitments under operating lease as
lessor
At 31st December 2023 and 2022, the Group had future
aggregate minimum rental receivables under non-

BE T _=F+-A=+—HItF
B BAE —TEFEREEERBHNIER
SIRE MRV EEBIN R A PSR M 5
16 (—FE——F &) -

27. E&IE

(a)

(b)

BAREE
AZE_=F+-_A=+—8 ' K&EH
WE R ERFRE( T - —F : ) o

EAHBARKEHEE FNE
:—‘%

R =ZFR_ZT -+ A
=+—8 AEERTAREEEHEE

cancellable operating leases as follows: THAR KRR ESAE EFRIBETEAT
2023 2022

—E-=F B —

HK$°000 HK$'000

THET T

Within one year —FR 1,159 435
Between one year and two years —FEEWF - 399
1,159 834




28.

29.

30.

Annual Report 2023 4 3R

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

AR B B R MY RE (AR

For the year ended 31st December 2023
BE_FE_=—F+_H=+—HIFE

Financial Guarantees and Pledge 28. BIIEIERRIKE
At 31st December 2023, the Group had the following banking RZIE-_=F+_A=+—H  AE£EHI
facilities, of which HK$56,300,000 (2022: HK$135,040,000) THRITRVEFEE - A456,300,00087T(=F
were secured by limited guarantees given by the Company T T4F : 135,040,000 ) AR R AT
and certain subsidiaries (2022 (Restated): by legal charges B AR TR 2 ARER(CE - —F (&
over certain land and buildings and investment properties of FI) : XK EBFRREAE{E 743,609,000 T
the Group with a total carrying amount of HK$43,609,000 ZEF I RBIBFURBREYEFIEZ LT
and limited guarantees given by the Company and certain AR KNG R 5 TR B2 el prié it s B
subsidiaries). RIER)VEHEIR -
2023 2022
—EC-=HF T F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F& T T
Trade and loan finance facilities BSNEFRERE 56,300 135,040
Forward exchange contract line RHINES LVRRE 124,944 82,347
Comparative Information 29. LB E R
Conforming to current year's presentation, statutory MRERNFEMNERHIXN BE-_ZT-_—
reserve of HK$11,473,000 and HK$12,365,000 that was —A—BEk=—E-_—_F+=-B=+—H8%t
included in retained earnings as of 1st January 2022 and ARB AR ETERE 11,473,000 7T &
31st December 2022 has been reclassified and separately 12,365,000/8 L EEEH D8 - W EE
disclosed under reserves. The revised presentation reflects TEBFHE - KIBTTHNERHFANEF@EE &
more appropriately the nature of these items. These LT IHETEERMEE - WEEFHEHAE
reclassifications have no effect on the reported financial BE2HMOTEAAN « EENIR e R HE
position, results or cash flows of the Group. 2o
Ultimate Holding Company 30. RAEZER AT

The Directors of the Company regard Spector Holdings
Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands,
as being the ultimate holding company and Mr. Mon Chung
Hung as being the ultimate controlling party.

RARESFRR/ERBRLEFSTMKILL
A 7F]Spector Holdings Limited && &A% A
B - i d R S A BRI TS o
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For the year ended 31st December 2023
BE T _=F1+_H=+—HIFE

31. Subsidiaries 31. B AT
Details of the subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period RBEHRAMEB A RIFFIBOT ¢
are as follows:
Place of Issued and fully paid
incorporation/ share capital/registered
Name establishment capital/charter capital Principal activities Interest
ERTRBERE/
£ R AR L) AMER/ FTELR TEEK B
2023 2022
—EC=E —E-CF
Shares held directly
BEEERG
Perennial Holdings Global Limited  British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary US$1 Investment holding 100% 100%
ABRLHES EERIET REEHR
Shares held indirectly
BERERG
Ever Peak Development Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$3 Property holding 100% 100%
KAERERAA] BB LRER3ET FEME
Glitter Wire & Cable Company Hong Kong Ordinary HK$500 Investment holding 100% 100%
Limited
RREHSEARAT B L5004 T REER
Non-voting Deferred
HK$2,000,000
BRFEETRG
2,000,000 7T
New Technology Cable Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1,000 License holding 100% 100%
TRESERAT Bt L@iR1,00087T FAER
Non-voting Deferred
HK$10,000,000
ERFEELTRN
10,000,00057T
Perennial Cable (H.K) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2,000,000 Trading of electric cables, 100% 100%
wires, wire harness and
accessories
ERER(EE)ERAA Bt £i%0%2,000,0007%7T BEEER B BAER

REH
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For the year ended 31st December 2023
HE—F-_=—F+-_A=+1—HIFE

31. Subsidiaries (Continued) 1. EBAT (&)

Details of the subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period

are as follows: (Continued)

REERROMBRRZFBTWAT - (8)

Place of Issued and fully paid
incorporation/ share capital/registered
Name establishment capital/charter capital Principal activities Interest
BRIRBERE/
£ RaUATAE L) AMER/ FTELR TEEK i
2023 2022
—E-=§ T
Shares held indirectly (Continued)
BERERA(E)
Perennial Cable Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary US$1 Investment and property 100% 100%
holding
EREGERAT] e EBERIET RERBAME
Perennial Cable (Shenzhen) Co., The PRC Registered capital Manufacturing of electric 100% 100%
Limited (wholly owned foreign HK$65,000,000 cables, wires and wire
enterprise)* (note (a)) harness
EEEFEAGZSIDE=1 YN i & 7865,000,0007%5 7T HESHR  BRRESER
(RBHBBIMER) (Fi5T(a))
Perennial Plastics (H.K.) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 Trading of plastic resins and 100% 100%
compounds
BHER(EH)ERAF BE LRR2ET BEBRambERILEY
Perennial Cable (BVI) Limited British Virgin Islands  Ordinary US$50,000 Investment holding 100% 100%
BHSRBVIERAR B apeits Ei%50,000% T REER
New Technology Cable Pte. Singapore Ordinary Singapore Dollar 2 License holding 100% 100%
Limited
AR LR ST FAER
Shinka K.K. Japan Ordinary Japanese Yen License holding 100% 100%
10,000,000
A& Zi@%10,000,0008 FrEiER
Perennial USA Inc. United States of Ordinary US$1 Trading of electric cables, 100% 100%
(note (b)) America wires, wire harness and
accessaries
Perennial USA Inc. E3E] LRRET BESR B AR
(PiZE)) REH
Shenzhen Welldone Trading Co., ~ The PRC Registered capital Trading of electric cables, 100% 100%
Limited® (note(a)) HK$1,000,000 wires, wire harness and
accessories
AEEEERE HERAA] i & 71,000,000 7 BEER & HEER

(Fitit(a))

Rt
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For the year ended 31st December 2023
BE T _=F1+_H=+—HIFE

31. Subsidiaries (Continued)

31.

Details of the subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period

are as follows: (Continued)

B 2 B (4]
RS HRGFBAT 2 BET : ()

Place of Issued and fully paid
incorporation/ share capital/registered
Name establishment capital/charter capital Principal activities Interest
BRTRERRS
A% M/ R FRER/FAER TEEK b 45
2023 2022
—EC=E —E-CF
Shares held indirectly (Continued)
BERERA(E)
Shenzhen Perennial Plastics and The PRC Registered capital Manufacturing and sale of 100% 100%
Metal Co., Limited* (note(a)) HK$40,000,000 electric cables, wire, wire
harness and accessories
AEHEBLEARAR i MEA40,00000087T  BUERHEER BK A
(Kt (@) BERREM
Shenzhen Perennial Plastics Co., The PRC Registered capital Manufacturing and sale 100% 100%
Limited* (note(a)) HK$10,000,000 of plastic resins and
compounds
AL BERAR (@) i FHHER10,000,0008T  BUERFEZBAKEER
=¥
Heyuan Perennial Plastics and The PRC Registered capital Manufacturing and sale of 100% 100%
Metal Co., Limited* (note(a)) RMB65,000,000 electric cables, wires,
wire harness and
accessories
MREHEBLEARLA hE HMEARAR65,0000000 BERHFESS SR A
(K@) BERREMH
Perennial Cable (Vietnam) Co., Vietnam Charter capital Manufacturing and sale of 100% 100%
Limited (note(c)) US$8,000,000 electric cables, wires,
wire harness and
accessories
Perennial Cable (Vietnam) Co., g FFR[EZ58,000,0005 T BELHESR  ER A
Limited (Fif#E(c)) ARRREN
New Technology Cable (Vietnam)  Vietnam Charter capital Dissolved - 100%
Limited* VND577,750,000
i SFAIEAR577,750,0008EE EEH
* New Technology Cable (Vietnam) Limited was dissolved on * New Technology Cable (Vietnam) Limited?4
3rd October 2023. —E-=Ft+A=RAFH-
# English translation for identification purpose only # BN EE AR

The legal form of all the above companies is limited liability

company.

LB ABREER A SERRF]
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REMBWRME(E)

For the year ended 31st December 2023
BE-—FT-_=—#F+_A=+1+—HIFF

31. Subsidiaries (Continued) 31. B AT ()

Save as noted below, the above companies operate BRUATRERASN - LM RARZ BB TE A

principally in Hong Kong instead of their respective places of & - MIEELEREM, ALtk -

incorporation/establishment, except for:

(@)  Perennial Cable (Shenzhen) Co., Limited, Shenzhen (a) EBEELKCEIDERAT - FYEERE
Welldone Trading Co., Limited, Shenzhen Perennial BEHEESHERAR - RIEHZBIL S
Plastics and Metal Co., Limited, Shenzhen Perennial BRAT - FYIEgREBER AT &
Plastics Co., Limited and Heyuan Perennial Plastics and REHZBRASABRARMNFE o
Metal Co., Limited are in the PRC.

(b)  Perennial USA Inc. is in the United States of America. (b)  Perennial USA Inc.fiZiASER ©

(c)  Perennial Cable (Vietnam) Co., Limited is in Vietnam. (c)  Perennial Cable (Vietnam) Co., Limited

IR o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31st December 2023
BE T _=F1+_H=+—HIFE

32. Statement of Financial Position and Reserve 32. A A RIBIER R R R EEEE
Movement of the Company

Statement of Financial Position B FE R SR =
2023 2022
—E-=F —EF-_—
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
FEE FHET FATT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets IEMBNVE EE
Investment in a subsidiary R—EB AR Z’E 62,738 62,738
Current assets MENE E
Due from a subsidiary FE—EM B AT FIE 55,066 54,878
Prepayments TaftRIAE 151 340
Cash and cash equivalents HekReEEY 186 87
55,403 55,305
Total assets BEE 118,141 118,043
EQUITY Exm
Equity attributable to AN TR E (LS
shareholders of the Company
Share capital [N 19,896 19,896
Other reserves HE bl (a) 78,537 78,537
Retained earnings 1R R F| (a) 19,644 19,510
Total equity B 118,077 117,943
LIABILITIES afE
Current liabilities MEAE
Other payables and accruals E b S FIE K TR S 64 100
Total liabilities wam 64 100
Total equity and liabilities BiEm N EE 118,141 118,043
The statement of financial position of the Company was RNABZEBHERRER-—_ZE—_ME=F —+
approved by the Board of Directors on 20th March 2024 and HEEFelh ETRREZE o
was signed on its behalf.
MON Chung Hung CHAN Chun Yiu
SR R 4 2
Director Director

EF EF
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31st December 2023
BE_FE_=—F+_H=+—HIFE

32. Statement of Financial Position and Reserve 32. KA GRS X R EE S H

Movement of the Company (Continued) (&)
(a) Reserve Movement (a) fEEEE
Contributed Capital
Share surplus  redemption  Total other Retained
premium (note) reserves reserves earnings Total
AR X
KiaE (Btzt) RO AEtRE REEAN @3t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TBTL TR TATL TATL

At 1st January 2023 R-E-=F
—-A-A 15,885 62,548 104 78,537 19,510 98,047
Total comprehensive rEErmbE
income for the year k] - - - - 6,103 6,103
Dividend paid BRRE - - - - (5,969) (5,969)
At 31st December 2023 ~ WZZE==F
+-A=t-H 15,885 62,548 104 78,537 19,644 98,181
At 1st January 2022 i S—
—A—H 15,885 62,548 104 78,537 23,200 101,737
Total comprehensive FER2ENE
income for the year ki = = = = 289 289
Dividend paid BRRE - = = = (3,979) (3,979)
At 31st December 2022  MZEZZ4F
+-A=t-H 15,885 62,548 104 78,537 19,510 98,047
Note: The contributed surplus of the Company arose when MieE : AR R 2 AR READ R BT’
the Company issued shares in exchange for the shares AR AR AR RIR M EB R AT £
of subsidiaries being acquired in connection with ATEAANERE M UIE 2B AR 2’
the reorganisation of the Group prior to its listing on MMEL  MERARARBITRMDZ
the Stock Exchange, and represented the difference HEEEFBENB AR 2 EEFELZ
between the nominal value of the Company's shares Z8 o BEBEBERE-—NNA—F20
issued and the value of net assets of the subsidiaries E(HERT) - BABBAIME DK T
acquired. Under the Companies Act of 1981 of Bermuda R EAKEZER BABKRE
(as amended), the contributed surplus is distributable Mo EABRENE AR Z FEEHERED
to the shareholders. At Group level, the contributed 9 °

surplus is reclassified into its component reserves of the
underlying subsidiaries.

33. Approval of the Consolidated Financial 33. ZR&EMEHRER L&

Statements

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the CAVBRRERN-_ZE-_WE=A_+ 8%
Board of Directors on 20th March 2024. EEodE o
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

it L1

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—B-=f T B C"TTF _"T-NF
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(e E751) (& E51) (feE51) (e E71))
Operating results (HK$000) REEE(THET)
Revenue Mirzs 303,527 324,524 373,472 282,342 301,357
Operating profit/(loss) R/ (&18) 18,301 22,472 28,623 (11,093) (3,798)
Profit/(loss) for the year REFHM,/ (B18) 15,746 18,510 23,597 (11,993) (6,378)
Financial position (HK$'000) BN (FET)
Net current assets mEBEERE 192,558 169,615 149,896 116,263 130,939
Shareholders' funds BRES 409,524 404,170 409,183 377,377 383,133
Per share data (HK cent) SREE (B
Earnings/(loss) per share SRAF/(EE)
- basic and diluted —HEARREE 79 9.3 11.9 (6.0) (3.2)
Dividend per share (interim and &AL S (R K
final dividend) R E) - 3.0 2.0 - -
Key Statistics B4
Inventory turnover (days) FERE(XEH) 216 227 173 181 149
Debtors’ turnover (days) ENER B (RE) 73 73 67 90 104
Creditors’ turnover (days) FERER AR (RE) 33 39 46 46 39
Acid-test ratio (%) RENLL (%) 310% 141% 90% 99% 83%
Working capital (%) LIEE (%) 592% 399% 224% 221% 171%
Total liabilities/total capital BaE/ EREX (%)
employed (%) 11.1% 15.6% 31.2% 27.4% 30.0%
Return on capital employed 1B B AN R
(operating profit/shareholders’ (2557,
funds) (%) BRREE)(%) 4.5% 5.6% 7.0% (2.9%) (1.0%)
Return on average total assets 944 ERE=X
(profit after taxation/average (BREBRF
total assets) (%) THREE)(%) 3.4% 3.7% 4.6% (2.5%) (1.3%)

The above consolidated income statement should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.

bikRE W

R e RIRE AT B S — G BAAE -
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